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To OUR STOCKHOLDERS:

This is our second Annual Report and it is my pleasure to address you once again to recap the prior year
and give you a sense of your Company’s positioning for the year ahead.

As we all know, 2001 was a tough year for our country and our economy. The wireless data sector, in
particular, underwent a shakeout as companies that could not meet the complex needs of enterprise
customers were forced to shift their bus1ness plans, merge with bigger players, and in some cases, go out
of business.

GoAmeérica was not immune to these macro trends, but we are pleased that we were able to grow our
business and improve our competitive positioning during such a difficult period:

e First and foremost, we continued our pace of rapid growth. We ended 2001 with over 140 thousand
subscribers, a nearly three-fold increase over 2000 while total revenue during 2001 grew 181% to over
$39 million.

e  We enhanced our industry positioning by forming and expanding strategic alliances with companies
such as AOL, Compagq, Fujitsu, IBM, Rogers AT&T Wireless, SAP, Siebel Systems and Sony.

°  We launched new products such as Go.Web™ OnPrem®™ and Mobile Office® while also making
customer driven enhancements to our core Go.Web technology.

e We continued to earn awards and recognition from leading industry sources such as CNET/PC
EXPO, eWeek, Forbes ASAP, and Fall Internet World.

o On September 11", our network operations center, located in close proximity to the World Trade
Center, stood the test of a crisis. Thanks to advance planning by our team, our customers experienced
uninterrupted service on a day when communicating was truly critical.

GoAmerica’s mission is to lead the industry in providing wireless data solutions to enterprises and mobile
professionals. The continued build out of high-speed next generation networks, the ever-expanding
variety of mobile computing devices and the development of new applications offer businesses an
unprecedented opportunity to leverage the power of wireless communications to increase productivity
and efficiency.

By 2004, there will be 34 million mobile professionals in the U.S. according to forecasts by Mercer
Management Consulting. In-Stat/MDR estimates that enterprise wireless data services generated
$4 billion in sales during 2001 ~ a number that is expected to grow to over $16 billion by 2006. No matter
how you look at it, one thing is clear: corporate use of wireless data has entered a period of steady growth,
and we believe GoAmerica is well positioned to capitalize on these opportunities.

With such rapid changes to the communications landscape, enterprises are increasingly looking for trusted
alliance partners in the delivery and management of wireless initiatives. GoAmerica meets this need by
serving as a single-source for the entire wireless solution including wireless devices and network
connectivity, Go.Web, our proprietary wireless technology, and a full suite of services support functions
from provisioning through billing and customer support.

We are able to meet this need because for the last several years GoAmerica has invested substantial time
and money into building and establishing the four critical components necessary to deliver secure,
enterprise-class wireless data solutions:

e (o0.Web technology;
o  State-of-the art network operations center and carrier relationships;

e  Comprehensive customer support and operations infrastructure; and

o Extensive roster of strategic alliances and distribution channels.




While each one of these components is a valuable asset on its own, combined they form the “four pillars”
of our industry leading wireless data services and solutions.

Our Go.Web technology serves as the foundation of the GoAmerica solution. By enabling wireless data
access across a multitude of devices and network technologies, Go.Web is a powerful platform for
deploying flexible, future-proof solutions that can meet the needs of virtually any enterprise — no matter
how large or small. When combined with our enterprise grade network operations center — which
maintains connections into most major wireless data network in North America ~ Go.Web enables
GoAmerica to offer a wide variety of commercially available solutions TODAY.

Our ability to not only deliver a best-in-class technology solution, but also provide best-in-class support,
customized billing, provisioning, and fulfillment has attracted an extensive roster of both customers and
alliance partners. In fact, we believe that having access to our substantial distribution network is a top
reason for teaming with GoAmerica. Few, if any, other companies in our sector have the ability to
distribute wireless products and services through channels such as Compaq, Dell, HP, IBM, Motient,
Rogers AT&T Wireless, SAP, Siebel Systems and Sony, to name just a few. We believe that this broad
adoption of our services by the world’s leading technology companies is a validation of the quality of our
solutions and a substantial advantage over most of our competition.

At GoAmerica, we know that being a leader requires vision and forward thinking — and we have never
taken our sights off the horizon. As our core business enters its next phase, GoAmerica is already
positioning itself as a leader in new and emerging areas of wireless data.

While it took us several years to build our core business, GoAmerica is poised to move rapidly into new
markets, such as high-speed local area wireless data access. This is because the value and power of our
“four pillars” extend well beyond our core business. When combined with our expertise in wireless data
networking, they enable us to enter new markets quickly and at a relatively low incremental cost.

In early 2002, we did just that — announcing that GoAmerica will be one of the first companies to offer
a combined wide area/local area wireless data solution. GoAmerica is aggregating the emerging 802.11b,
also called “Wi-Fi”, local area networks and bundling this service with our wide area wireless data
offerings. By aggregating these emerging Wi-Fi networks into one seamless offering, GoAmerica can offer
subscribers access to thousands of high-speed, public Wi-Fi “hot spots.”

Offering Wi-Fi access represents both a logical next step and a tremendous opportunity for GoAmerica.
We have been watching the Wi-Fi build-out with great interest and our customers and alliance partners
have expressed a growing need for a combined solution. GoAmerica has earned respect for providing
broad flexibility in wide area access by aggregating most major wide area wireless data networks. We look
forward to leveraging our existing infrastructure to offer the same seamless integration in local area
solutions. This furthers our commitment to provide customers with a single source for fast, secure and cost
effective solutions for their wireless data needs.

We are making excellent strides in the execution of our strategic plan and I am confident in our
management team’s ability to successfully grow your business in the years ahead. We have the right
strategy, a winning team and deep commitment to delivering stockholder value. I look forward to
updating you on GoAmerica’s progress next year — and in the years to come.

Sincerely,

Aaron Dobrinsky
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not historical facts are
forward-looking statements (within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended) that involve risks and uncertainties. Such forward-looking statements may be identified by, among
other things, the use of forward-looking terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should”
or “anticipates” or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology, or by
discussions of strategy that involve risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements, such as
statements regarding anticipated future revenues, capital expenditures, subscriber base, profit margins and
other statements regarding matters that are not historical facts, involve predictions with risks and
uncertainties. Potential risks and uncertainties that could affect our future operating results include, but are
not limited to: (i) our ability to increase and maintain our subscriber base; (ii) uncertainties relating to the
future demand for services in the emerging wireless data services market; and (iii) our ability to successfully
grow our infrastructure, mandage expanded operations, integrate acquired businesses, achieve profitability,
increase or maintain gross margins, liquidity and capital resources, increase enterprise sales, leverage our
strategic alliances to generate revenue and offer.new services. Such risks and others are more fully described
in Risk Factors included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Our actual results may differ materially from the
results expressed in, or implied by, such forward-looking statements. Each reference herein to “GoAmerica,”
the “Company” or “We,” or any variation thereof, is a reference to GoAmerica, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

General

We are a wireless data and Internet solutions provider addressing the productivity and communica-
tions needs of business customers. Utilizing our proprietary Go.Web™ technology, our solutions enable
corporations to improve the productivity of their workers by enabling secure wireless access to corporate
data on many wireless computing devices and over many wireless data networks. Our revenues are
primarily derived from the sale of our basic and value-added wireless services, which our customers
typically pay for on a monthly recurring basis. We derive additional revenue from the sales of wireless
communications devices. Additionally, we intend to generate licensing fees from sales of a new software
product that we launched in December 2001, which is installed behind an enterprise’s network security
system, commonly know as the firewall.

Recognized for our acumen in developing productivity solutions, we continue to expand our
technology capabilities. Elements of our technology suite include:

Go.Web — Qur proprietary Go.Web technology serves as the foundation of our services offering.
Hosted in our Wireless Internet Connectivity Center, Go.Web is a wireless enabling technology that
reformats, compresses, and encrypts data automatically and on a near immediate basis for delivery over
many wireless data networks to many wireless data devices. Go.Web is also the brand name for our basic
wireless data service. Subscribers to our Go.Web service have the ability to wirelessly access most
Web-based or Internet content including corporate intranets, business applications and corporate email.

Wireless Internet Connectivity Center — This facility, which serves as GoAmerica’s network
operations center, maintains connections into most major wireless data networks in North America. Built
using industry standard technologies, and capable of scaling to support up to one million subscribers, this
facility was designed to meet the security and flexibility needs of major corporate enterprises.

Mobile Office® — Mobile Office is a suite of value-added wireless products and services that are
designed to replicate desktop functionality from a mobile computing device. Mobile Office, which utilizes
our Go.Web technology enables our subscribers to not only wirelessly access critical information, but to
actually work with such data in a mobile environment. Value-added features of Maobile Office include the
ability to open and edit email attachments; remotely access and manage documents; send instant messages
or pages; centrally manage email, voicemail and faxes; and queue requests to access or send information
when a device is outside of a wireless service area.




Go.Web OnPrem™™ — In addition to the hosted version of Go.Web, enterprise customers can choose
to have Go.Web installed in the form of an OnPrem server that resides behind their corporate firewall.
Go.Web OnPrem offers our customers all the same capabilities as the hosted version of Go.Web, but with
the added security of a behind the firewall deployment.

In order to provide our subscribers with extensive wireless access, we have established strategic
relationships with leading wireless network carriers, such as AT&T Wireless, Cingular Interactive,
Motient, Rogers AT&T Wireless in Canada, Verizon Wireless and VoiceStream. Qur subscribers are able
to use our wireless data and Internet services with their choice of a wide variety of leading mobile devices,
including Palm operating system-based computing devices; Research In Motion’s, or RIM’s, BlackBerry
and interactive devices; laptop computers, Microsoft Windows CE-based computers; Pocket PC-based
personal digital assistants and wireless application protocol-enabled, or WAP-enabled, smart phones. We
also have engineered our wireless data and Internet services to operate with new versions of many
wireless devices.

Our principal office is located at 433 Hackensack Avenue, Hackensack, New Jersey 07601, and our
telephone number is (201) 996-1717. Our web site is located at www.goamerica.net. We have not
incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K the information on our web site, and you should not
consider it to be a part of this document. Our web site address is included in this document as an inactive
textual reference only.

The GoAmerica name and logo and the names of products and services offered by GoAmerica are
trademarks, registered trademarks, service marks or registered service marks of GoAmerica.

Corporate History

GoAmerica Communications Corp. was incorporated in Delaware in 1996. In December 1999,
GoAmerica, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware and each of the security holders of GoAmerica
Communications Corp. exchanged all of their outstanding securities for newly issued securities of
GoAmerica, Inc. with equivalent rights and preferences. As a result, GoAmerica Communications Corp.
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of GoAmerica, Inc. GoAmerica, Inc. consummated its initial public
offering of its common stock in April 2000.

On June 28, 2000, we acquired Wynd Communications Corporation, a California corporation, or
Wynd. Wynd is a leading provider of wireless telecommunications services for people who are deaf or
hard of hearing, a line of business that we have continued. In the acquisition, the former stockholders of
Wynd received an aggregate of 3,964,975 shares of our common stock in exchange for all outstanding
shares of Wynd capital stock. Such aggregate amount equaled seven percent (7%) of the total fully-diluted
issued and outstanding shares of our common stock on the date of issue.

On August 31, 2000, we acquired Hotpaper.com, Inc.,, a Delaware corporation, or Hotpaper.
Hotpaper provided Web-based document automation software, infrastructure and content, which was
utilized as the basis for developing our Mobile Office suite of services. Pursuant to the terms of the
acquisition, the former stockholders of Hotpaper received an aggregate of 1,006,111 shares of our
common stock in exchange for a portion of the outstanding shares of Hotpaper capital stock. In addition,
one stockholder of Hotpaper received a cash payment of $750,000 in exchange for a portion of his shares
of Hotpaper capital stock.

On November 7, 2000, we acquired substantially all the assets of Flash Creative Management, Inc.,
a New Jersey corporation, or Flash. Flash provided consulting services to business customers in the areas
of business improvement, strategy and redesign and in software development and integration, a line of
business we have continued in part. In consideration for the assets purchased, we (i) paid an aggregate
purchase price of $6,000,000 cash, (ii) issued 466,302 shares of restricted common stock and (i) assumed
certain liabilities of Flash.

On November 13, 2001, we acquired OutBack Resource Group, Inc., a California corporation, or
CutBack. OutBack is a software development company specializing in wireless and network management
and technologies. Pursuant to the terms of the acquisition, the former stockholders of OutBack received
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an aggregate of 134,996 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase, at an exercise price of
$3.00 per share, an additional aggregate of 67,500 shares of our common stock in exchange for all
outstanding shares of OutBack capital stock.

Our Business

Businesses today face a daunting and complex array of choices when contemplating strategies for
using wireless technologies to improve individual productivity. Qur experience in the wireless data
industry, combined with our technology, enables us to design sophisticated solutions for our customers.
Elements of our value proposition for customers include:

We Maximize Customer Flexibility by Offering Choices. In order to successfully deploy wireless data
solutions for enterprise customers we must take a flexible approach. By design, our solutions are highly
versatile and can be easily customized for the particular needs of a given customer. Specifically, we offer
customers:

Wireless Network Flexibility — Despite the many wireless network advances, North America
continues to be a region of disparate systems, each having its own communications protocol, coverage
patterns and unique features. GoAmerica offers our customers one of the most full-featured network
services in the country. We make this available through our relationships with many of the traditional
leading wireless wide area network, or WAN, operators, including AT&T Wireless, Cingular Interactive,
Motient, Rogers AT&T Wireless in Canada, Verizon Wireless and VoiceStream. These network carriers
operate on a variety of different network technologies, such as Cellular Digital Packet Data, or CDPD,
Mobitex, DataTAC, General Packet Radio Services, or GPRS, and Code Division Multiple Access, or
CDMA, which allow us to offer our services through a broad range of wireless devices. These
relationships enable us to continually enhance our existing solutions on behalf of our enterprise
customers. As such, we have recently announced agreements with some of these network operators to
offer next generation, or 2.5G, services to our customers as these services become available. Cur airtime
agreements with wireless carriers permit us to offer a range of rates plans that meet the needs of our
customers.

We have also expanded our network portfolio to include the emerging 802.11, or Wi-Fi, local area
network, or LAN, wireless technology, expecting to be one of the first companies in the United States to
offer enterprise customers a unified wireless LAN/WAN solution. Wi-Fi is a wireless technology that
enables high-speed access within a 300-foot radius of the network base. Currently, Wi-Fi delivers speeds
up to 11 megabytes per second and has quickly gained popularity in heavily trafficked areas, known as
“hot spots,” such as airports, hotels, conference centers and coffee shops, where businesspeople often stop
to connect to the office. ' '

Device Choices — Advances in hardware and software technology have contributed to an expanding
variety of mobile computing devices. Due to this diversity of hardware options, companies are faced with
the new challenge of procuring and supporting multiple devices. We help enterprises streamline these
processes by advising on the appropriate equipment that meets a company’s needs as well as actually
procuring the devices for the enterprise, activating them on wireless networks and offering solutions for
managing the devices once they are in operation.

We currently offer our services through a wide variety of wireless access devices including Palm
OS-based computing devices, RIM’s BlackBerry and interactive devices, laptop computers, Windows
CE-based computers, Pocket PC-based personal digital assistants and WAP-enabled smart phones. We
are able to provide service through these devices because we support a range of wireless networks and
utilize our own and third-party device software. This capability enables us to offer service through devices
that we believe will achieve significant market acceptance and penetration.

Choice of System Accessibility — Whether a customer wants access to their corporate email system,
enterprise resource planning, or ERP, system, customer relationship management, or CRM, system, field
sales system, or just about any other information that resides on their internal network, we can fill the
need for this access, and do so securely. We achieve this level of access through our network operations
center, which serves as a secure link between our network alliance partners and the customer’s enterprise
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systems. By using our own and third-party software, we compress and encrypt data content from
broadband sources to enable faster and more cost-effective data delivery over wireless networks. We
support various wireless protocols, such as wireless application protocol, or WAP, wireless markup
language, or WML, handheld delimited markup language, or HDML, hypertext markup language, or
HTML, secure socket layer, or SSL, and Java. Our network operations center is also scalable and
redundant, enabling us to move quickly to meet the demands of increased data traffic and expanding
wireless network capabilities.

We are a Single Point gf Contact. We are a services company with arrangements for extensive
customer support capabilities in order to serve as a single source vendor of wireless data products and
services to our customers. These capabilities include:

One Invoice — In January 2002, we completed installation of a new, customized billing platform. This
system enables us to offer our customers customized bills that are tailored to reflect the unique aspects
of their GoAmerica solution. Regardless of how many wireless networks are used in any given solution,
our infrastructure enables the company to provide its customers with a customized billing invoice
detailing usage on a per user basis. This unified invoice for all types of wireless data services greatly
simplifies the accounting process for our customers. Additionally, we leverage this billing system to offer
customized billing services to our alliance partners such as Compag, IBM and Sony. These alliance
partners utilize our flexible billing capabilities to create and offer GoAmerica enabled wireless data
solutions directly to their customers.

One Phone Call — Cur support systems are designed to cater to the needs of our clients, including
a single point of contact for problem resolution regardless of whether the problem is related to software,
wireless data services or devices. We rely on a third party customer service provider to provide certain
customer service functions on our behalf.

We Team With Leaders in Enterprise Services. Corporate wireless data deployments are typically
part of larger corporate technology initiatives. In order to provide our customers with a high caliber of
service, we supplement our core wireless networking expertise with the expertise of leading enterprise
services and technology companies. For customers who require long-term professional services agree-
ments, we typically recommend one of several leading global systems integrators, such as IBM, with whom
we have entered into a strategic relationship. In turn, these professional service firms typically refer to us
their customers who are seeking a wireless data solution.. These strategic relationships ensure an optimal
customer experience while creating new revenue opportunities for us and our alliance partners.

The GoAmerica Strategy

Our primary mission is to deliver world-class wireless data solutions to enterprise customers. We seek
to distinguish our offerings with value-added services in order to deepen penetration among our installed
base and expand the breadth of our overall subscriber base. Our strategy includes the following
key elements:

Organic Growth Through Strategic Distribution Alliances. Our growth strategy relies on both direct
and indirect methods of distribution, however, we are able to achieve the greatest leverage through our
vast array of indirect distribution alliance partners:

Original Equipment Manufacturers, or OEMs — We currently sell our products and services through
leading OEMs such as Compaq, Dell, Fujitsu, Hewlett-Packard, Research In Motion, Sony and
ViewSonic. These companies either sell our wireless services on an individual basis or bundle them with
sales of their own hardware products.

Independent Software Vendors, or ISVs — We have agreements with several leading ISVs including
Lotus, Microsoft, SAP and Siebel Systems to offer our services in conjunction with their wireless
applications.

Global Systems Integrators, or GSIs — We have strategic relationships with leading GSIs to integrate
and offer our wireless products and services with. their technology offerings to enterprise customers. Our
most notable relationship is with IBM. In December of 2001, we entered into an extensive relationship
with IBM to jointly offer wireless data products and solutions to enterprise customers.
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Mobile Virtual Network Operators, or MVNO — We have agreements with companies such as Casio,
Compag, Rogers AT&T Wireless and Sony to offer private labeled or co-labeled wireless data services.
Under this model, we provide wireless enabling technology, network connectivity and support services to
these companies who market the wireless service to their own customers.

Wireless Network Operators — Several leading wireless network operators including Motient and
Rogers AT&T Wireless in Canada offer our services through their sales channels.

We prioritize our sales and marketing resources around account penetration strategies in association
with our strategic distribution alliances. The outcome of this strategy is a desired reduction in cost per
gross addition, or CPGA, our cost to acquire a new subscriber.

Acguisitive Growth and Differentiation Through Targeted Tramsactions. We intend to pursue
additional acquisitions that we believe will allow us to quickly increase the scale and scope of our
resources. In particular, we expect to seek acquisitions that will expand our technology or engineering
force, enable us to enter new markets or industry sectors, expand our customer base, or provide new
services. For example, in early 2002, we purchased the reachNET subscriber base from TeleCommuni-
cation Systems, Inc.

Provide Superior Customer Service and Technical Support. Wireless Internet access is an evolving
and growing communications process. Consequently, subscribers may face a number of potential
problems. We believe that even sophisticated subscribers periodically have questions or encounter
problems as applications adapted to, or designed for, wireless data proliferate. Consequently, we focus on
providing high levels of customer service and technical support in an effort to achieve maximum levels of
customer satisfaction. We rely on a third party customer service provider to provide certain customer
service functions on our behalf. Additionally, for our enterprise customers, we offer dedicated technical
and customer support representatives. We believe that superior customer service will help us minimize
subscriber deactivations and promote customer referrals.

Customers

We sell and market to enterprise and individual customers. Our subscriber base has grown from
47,632 at December 31, 2000 to 140,927 subscribers at December 31, 2001. We generally target our
enterprise marketing and selling efforts toward decision-makers within businesses with large numbers of
mobile professionals. These customers often have a wireless strategy and need assistance with the
implementation and maintenance of such strategy. Mobile professionals typically have computer and
Internet access, use a cellular phone or pager, and have a strong professional or personal need to stay in
touch with Web-based information.

Sales and Marketing

Sales

We éurrently sell our services and solutions through two primary channels of distribution; direct and
indirect. As of March 22, 2002 we had 34 employees working in our sales department.

Direct Distribution. Direct distribution methods consist of those channels in which our personnel
take the order directly from the customers. Within direct distribution, we capture new business through
several methods such as:

Direct Sales Representatives — Our direct sales professionals focus primarily on mid-sized to large
corporate customers who are seeking to deploy wireless data solutions for the associated gains in
productivity.

Telesales Representatives — Our telesales professionals respond to queries generated as a result of
Web site visits and our marketing efforts which usually list our toll-free sales telephone number.

Indirect Distribution. Indirect distribution methods consist of those channels where our distribution
alliance partners take the order directly from the customers. With indirect distribution, we capture new
business through several methods such as:




Strategic Sales and Marketing Alliances — GoAmerica has created strategic alliances that enable us
to distribute our products and services through the sales channels of several leading enterprise services
and technology companies including original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), wireless network
operators, independent software vendors and global systems integrators. These relationships typically
include co-marketing agreements and frequently incorporate these companies into our GoAmerica
Alliance Program as value-added resellers and dealers.

Value-Added Resellers and Dealers — Through our GoAmerica Alliance Program, we provide
discounts and commissions to value-added resellers and dealers. Our channel manager professionals
supervise a four-tiered program that includes resellers, master dealers, dealers and agents.

Resellers buy GoAmerica service at a wholesale price and sell it at a retail price. Resellers are not
paid a commission. Resellers are responsible for selling the GoAmerica service and mobile devices, and
billing and supporting the customer. We are responsible for billing the reseller. For example, we have a
reselling relationship with Motient pursuant to which Motient resells our Go.Web service as a part of
Motient’s suite of services to its customers through its distribution channels.

Master dealers sell GoAmerica service through a network of other dealers and are paid a higher
commission than dealers but are assigned a quota. Master dealers are responsible for selling the
GoAmerica service, training their dealer network, providing the mobile devices, and supporting the
subscriber. Under such arrangements, we are responsible for billing the subscriber. Our dealers and agents
sell the GoAmerica service through their own sales efforts, and are not assigned a quota. Dealers are paid
a smaller commission than a master dealer. Dealers are responsible for selling the GoAmerica service and
providing the mobile devices. We bill and support the subscribers provided by our dealers. Agents are
paid a smaller commission than dealers because they are only responsible for selling the GoAmerica
service. We sell and provide the mobile devices and bill and support the subscribers provided by
our agents.

Marketing

We market and advertise in order to create sales opportunities. Our efforts have been and will
continue to be targeted in market segments and geographic markets where we believe there is opportunity
for substantial subscriber penetration. We believe that high concentrations of potential subscribers reduce
our subscriber acquisition costs. As of March 22, 2002, we had 22 employees working in our marketing
department.

We have also developed joint marketing relationships with several manufacturers of wireless devices
which we believe will benefit from being able to market our value-added services. For example, we have
a preferred service provider agreement with Novatel Wireless, a leading supplier of wireless modems, and
a reseller and joint marketing agreement with Sierra Wireless, the manufacturer of the AirCard series of
wireless PC Cards.Additionally, we have a strategic alliance with RIM pursuant to which Go.Web is
included as a value-added service in various RIM devices sold in North America.

Technology and Operations
Service Infrastructure

Wireless Internet Connectivity Center. In order to provide our subscribers with reliable service, we
operate a 7,000 square foot network operations center in New York City. This facility is our primary
Wireless Internet Connectivity Center. This state-of-the-art facility was built to provide high performance,
reliable and secure wireless access to mission critical data. This Wireless Internet Connectivity Center
utilizes the EMC Celerra Enterprise Storage system to provide our services with a dedicated network file
server, offering industry-leading scalability, availability and reliability.

This Wireless Internet Connectivity Center is connected to multiple Tier-1 Internet backbone
providers such as UUNET/MCI WorldCom, Sprint, and AT&T via redundant high-capacity, high-speed
leased T-1 telecommunications lines as well as fixed location frame-relay circuits. These circuits connect
to our customers’ data sources and to the wireless data networks we use. Our Wireless Internet




Connectivity Center is supported by a switched fiber optic backbone provided by Cisco Systems. The
center is equipped with proven, industry standard equipment, including Cisco and Paradyne networking
equipment, Sun Sparc Enterprise UNIX servers, high-end clustered Compaq servers, Network Appliance
NES Servers and Clarion Raid Arrays. We believe our Wireless Internet Connectivity Center is capable
of meeting the capacity demands and security standards for services we developed or are developing for
our customers. Our technical staff monitor network traffic, service quality, and security 24 hours a day,
seven days a week. We intend to continue to maintain our improved network monitoring software and
hardware systems. Our original data center in Hackensack, New Jersey now functions as a backup facility,
providing redundant infrastructure and network connectivity.

Wireless Networks. Through our relationships with third-party provider-owned wireless networks,
our subscribers are able to wirelessly access the Internet in most major metropolitan areas in the
continental United States via a local wireless network. We offer services over or purchase access to
wireless networks through services agreements with a variety of carriers including AT&T Wireless,
Cingular Interactive, Motient, Verizon Wireless and VoiceStream. Using a combination of third-party
wireless network providers enables us to provide wireless Internet access and services in most major
markets while managing the timing and magnitude of our capital expenditures. We employ a strategy of
using different third-party network providers in locations where it is most economical to do so. We
periodically reevaluate the economics of this strategy and, if warranted, move subscribers to different
networks.

In addition to our direct relationships with various wireless carriers, we also purchase access to
wireless networks in the United States and Canada through RIM as part of the RIM Blackberry Wireless
Email Solution, a “bundle” of products and services that also includes RIM handheld devices and
proprietary software.

QOur Software Technology

We have developed a proprietary services platform, Go.Web, that we believe is a competitive
advantage because it enables our subscribers to access and personalize data from many leading wireless
device. Go.Web also allows qualified developers to introduce standard Web-based applications for many
wireless device or network. As a result of our Go.Web development efforts, our engineering staff has
acquired substantial wireless and Web formatting expertise, which will enable us to develop solutions
quickly as new wireless devices are introduced. In addition, our proprietary compression technology and
enhanced wireless transport protocol included in our software provide bandwidth efficiency and maximize
data transmission speeds. We also have employed industry standard SSL, or secure sockets layer, and use
Certicom’s cryptography within the Go.Web infrastructure.

During 2001, we updated Go.Web with version 6.2. New features and functionality of Go.Web 6.2
include:

e WML support — Go.Web 6.2 provides a single interface for users to access more Web sites,
offering full support of WML, along with its existing support of HTML,;

¢  Push Alerts — WAP Push 1.2 compliant alerts can be received. Developers are able to set up
applications that send alerts to users informing them of a change in schedule, a new appointment
or detailed customer contact information;

e Go.Web Queue-Manager — Go.Web Queue-Manager enables applications to be used even when
the users find themselves outside of a coverage area. Queue-Manager will queue http requests
and submit them when the user is back in coverage;

e  Open e-mail URL — Links sent in e-mail messages can be opened via the Go.Web Browser;

¢  Enhanced Navigation — Users are able to easily open URLs via the Go.Web pull down menu.
This feature, coupled with a new history function, offers enhanced Web navigation.

During 2001, we also launched Go.Web OnPrem, a behind the firewall version of Go.Web. With
Go.Web OnPrem, enterprise customers can enjoy all the same features and functionality of Go.Web with
the additional security of a behind the firewall server.
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During 2001, we launched our Mobile Office product suite. Utilizing our Go.Web technology, Mobile
Office enables users to securely access:

o Business applications such as customer relationship management or CRM, enterprise resource
planning or EREP, sales force automation or SFA and financial services;

o Groupware and email (including attachments) such as Microsoft, Lotus, Novell, POP and IMAP;
e Document libraries, and provides the ability to forward files via email or fax instantly;

o Intranet databases and documents;

e Unified messaging application (voice and email notification, fax mailbox, paging services);

o [Instant messaging application for fast group collaboration; and

o Pertinent Internet data — travel (flight status, directions), news, weather, business information,
most web sites.

Licensed Software Technology

Cingular Intéractive. The Cingular Interactive Paging Service, or IPS, is based on server software
that we have licensed. We are one of a limited number of companies that have deployed an IPS gateway.
This service provides two-way messaging on devices such as the RIM interactive devices.

Customer Service, Billing and Fulfillment

We provide customer service and billing at our customer service center. We rely on a third party
customer service provider to provide certain customer service functions on our behalf. Our customer
service program provides our subscribers with the ability to contact us via a toll free telephone number,
the Web, or email. Through our goamerica.net Web site, subscribers can access answers to Frequently
Asked Questions and information about our services 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Through our Web
site and customer service representatives, we verify that a potential subscriber will have wireless network
coverage where such customer plans to use the service.

For product fulfillment, we maintain a limited inventory of mobile devices and wireless modems at
our headquarters which we buy from third-party manufacturers and resellers and use to fill rush orders.
The majority of our fulfillment is completed by a third party vendor. We work closely with people on site
at the third party vendor to load and configure custom software on mobile devices, activate wireless
modems and perform quality assurance checks. Devices are then packed, shipped and tracked until the
subscriber receives the product. For customers who already own a mobile device, we provide only the
wireless modem and software application. Our subscribers are able to deal directly with us for all repair,
replacement and warranty issues for devices we provide to them. Generally defective devices are returned
to the manufacturer for replacement or credit.

As of March 22, 2002, we had 49 customer service and technical support representatives who handle
inquiries about our services, device features and wireless communications. Cur customer service and
technical support personnel are available 24 hours a day, seven days a week. We also expanded our
e-commerce Web site capabilities to include self-provisioning, on-line billing, and interactive customer
care during 2001. We provide corporate or individual customer billing for all subscription fees, devices
and modems, and other fees.

Competition

The market for our wireless data and Internet services is becoming increasingly competitive. The
widespread adoption of industry standards in the wireless data communications market may make it
easier for new market entrants and existing competitors to introduce services that compete against ours.
We developed our solutions using standard industry development tools. Many of our agreements with
wireless carriers, wireless handheld device manufacturers and data providers are non-exclusive. Our
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competitors may use the same products and services in competition with us. With time and capital, it
would be possible for competitors to replicate our services. We expect that we will compete primarily on
the basis of the functionality, breadth, quality and price of our services.

Many of our existing and potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical,
marketing and distribution resources than we do. Additionally, many of these companies have greater
name recognition and more established relationships with our target customers. Furthermore, these
competitors may be able to adopt more aggressive pricing policies and offer customers more attractive
terms than we can. In the event such companies decide to compete directly with us, such relationships will
likely be terminated, which may have a material adverse effect on our business and reduce our market
share or force us to lower prices to unprofitable levels.

Research and Developmemnt

Most of our product and service offerings are developed internally. We also purchase and license
technology. We continue to enhance the features and performance of our existing products and services.
In addition, we are continuing to develop new products to meet our customers’ expectations of ongoing
innovation and enhancement within our suite of products. With our acquisition of OutBack, we increased
our development staff to 22 people.

Our ability to meet our customers’ expectations depends on a number of factors, including our ability
to identify and respond to emerging technological trends in our target markets, develop and maintain
competitive products, enhance our existing products by adding features and functionality that differen-
tiate them from those of our competitors and bring products to market on a timely basis and at a
competitive prices. Consequently, we have made, and we intend to continue to make, investments in
research and development :

Intellectual Property Rights

We have not yet obtained patents on our technology that would preclude or inhibit competitors from
using our technology. In February 2001, we filed a patent application on certain aspects of our Go.Web
technology. The application is presently pending in the United States Patent and Trademark Office and
has been filed internationally under the Patent Cooperation Treaty and in Argentina, Venezuela, Chile,
Taiwan and Thailand. We also acquired two patent applications from Hotpaper relating to document
generation over the Internet. These applications are presently pending before the United States Patent
and Trademark Office and have been filed internationally under the Patent Cooperation Treaty and in
Argentina, Venezuela, Chile, Taiwan and Thailand. We recently acquired a perpetual, royalty-free,
worldwide license under two patents owned by Geoworks Corporation relating to wireless products and
services. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, service mark, trade secret laws, unfair
competition law and contractual restrictions to establish and protect certain proprietary rights in our
technology and intellectual property. We have applied for registration of our GoAmerica names and
marks in the United States Patent and Trademark Office and in trademark offices in jurisdictions
throughout the world, including but not limited to, U.S. federal trademark applications for the marks
“GoAmerica”, “Go.Web”and “Law-on:the-Go”. The steps taken by us to protect our intellectual
property may not prove sufficient to prevent misappropriation of our technology or to deter independent
third-party development of similar technologies. In addition, the laws of certain foreign countries may not
protect our technologies or intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United
States. We also rely on certain technologies that we license from third parties. These third-party
technology licenses may not continue to be available to us on commercially attractive terms. The loss of
the ability to use such technology could require us to obtain the rights to use substitute technology, which
could be more expensive or offer lower quality or performance, and therefore have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Third parties could claim infringement
by us with respect to current or future technology. We expect that we and other participants in our
markets will be increasingly subject to infringement claims as the number of services and competitors in
our industry segment grows. Any such claim, whether meritorious or not, could be time consuming, result
in costly litigation, cause service or installation interruptions or require us to enter into royalty or licensing
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agreements. Such royalty or licensing agreements might not be available on terms acceptable to us or at
all. As a result, any such claim could have a material adverse effect upon our business, financial condition
or results of operations. We received a claim in November 1999, on behalf of ROTIS Technologies
Corporation, that our technology relating to the wireless provision of stock quotes infringes a patent
relating to a price quotation system, which patent expired on September 25, 2001. We believe that such
claim is not material and is without merit. We intend to defend against such claim vigorously. Such claim
has not been pursued by ROTIS and no specific claim for damages has been asserted. Therefore, no
assurance can be made that such claim could not become material in the future. We also received in
January 2000 an offer from NTP Incorporated to enter into negotiations to obtain a license under one or
more of NTP’s patent properties relating to wireless email systems. We have reviewed NTP’s patents and
do not believe that GoAmerica requires a license under those patents. NTP has not pursued its
license offer.

Government Regulation

We are not currently subject to direct federal, state or local government regulation, other than
regulations that apply to businesses generally. The wireless network carriers we contract with to provide
airtime are subject to regulation by the Federal Communications Commission. Changes in FCC
regulations could affect the availability of wireless coverage these carriers are willing or able to sell to us.
We could also be adversely affected by developments in regulations that govern or may in the future
govern the Internet, the allocation of radio frequencies or the placement of cellular towers. Also, changes
in these regulations could create uncertainty in the marketplace that could reduce demand for our services
or increase the cost of doing business as a result of costs of litigation or increased service delivery cost or
could in some other manner have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results
of operations.

We currently do not collect sales or other taxes with respect to the sale of services or products in
states and countries where we believe we are not required to do so. We do collect sales and other taxes
in the states in which we have offices and are required by law to do so. One or more jurisdictions have
sought to impose sales or other tax obligations on companies that engage in online commerce within their
jurisdictions. A successful assertion by one or more jurisdictions that we should collect sales or other taxes
on our products and services, or remit payment of sales or other taxes for prior periods, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Any new legislation or regulation, or the application of laws or regulations from jurisdictions whose
laws do not currently apply to our business, could have an adverse effect on our business.

Employees

As of March 22, 2002, we had a total of 221 full-time employees. None of our employees are covered
by a collective bargaining agreement. We believe that our relations with our employees are good.

Risk Factors

Risks Particular To GoAmerica

We have historically incurred losses and these losses will comtinue in the foreseeable future.

We have never earned a profit. We had net losses of $120.3 million, $64.8 million and $11.5 million
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Since our inception, we have invested
significant capital to build our wireless network operations and e-commerce systems as well as our billing
system. During 2001, we have invested additional capital in the development of our software application
Go.Web as well as the development of Mobile Office. We have acquired, and may continue to acquire and
implement, new operational and financial systems and continue to invest in our network operations. We
also provide and expect to continue to provide mobile devices made by third parties to our customers at
prices below our costs for such devices. In addition, our costs of subscriber revenue, consisting principally
of our purchase of wireless airtime from network carriers, have historically exceeded our subscriber
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revenue. Further, we have previously experienced negative overall gross margins, which consist of margins
on our subscriber revenues, equipment sales and other revenue, and may experience negative overall
gross margins again in the future. We have incurred operating losses since our inception and expect to
continue to incur operating losses for at least the next several quarters. Therefore, we will need to
generate significant revenue to become profitable and sustain profitability on a quarterly and annual basis.

We may not achieve or sustain our revenue or profit goals, and our ability to do so depends on the
factors specified elsewhere in “Risk Factors” — as well as on a number of factors outside of our control,
including the extent to which:

e our competitors announce and develop, or lower the prices of, competing services;

e wireless network carriers, data providers and manufacturers of mobile devices (i) dedicate
resources to selling our services or (ii) increase the costs of, or limit the use of, services or devices
that we purchase from them; and

o prices for our services decrease as a result of reduced demand or competitive pressures.

As a result, we may not be able to increase revenue or achieve profitability on a quarterly and
annual basis.

We may need additional funds which, if available, could result in increased interest expenses or additional
dilution to our stockholders. If additional funds are needed and are mot available, cur business could be
negatively impacted.

We currently anticipate that our available cash resources will be sufficient to fund our operating
needs for the next 12 months. As of December 31, 2001 we had $35.0 million in cash and cash equivalents
($24.2 million at March 31, 2002), exclusive of $1.4 million in restricted cash supporting certain letters of
credit. In order to reduce operating expenses, during 2001, we reduced the number of our employees by
outsourcing certain operating functions, modified certain of our pricing strategies to recover the costs
incurred for roaming, and, in certain instances, suspended service to a limited number of subscribers
contributing to excessive roaming costs. Cur 2002 operating plan includes further reductions in headcount
as well as significant reductions in sales and marketing expenditures and capital expenditures from the
levels incurred during 2001. In the event we are unable to achieve our plans, additional further reductions
may be required. We do, however, plan to raise additional capital either through public or private equity
or debt financing to primarily finance the execution of our anticipated strategic initiatives. At this time,
we do not have any bank credit facility or other working capital credit line under which we may borrow
funds for working capital or other general corporate purposes. If our plans or assumptions change or are
inaccurate, we may be required to seek additional capital.

If funds are raised through the issuance of equity securities, the percentage ownership of our
then-current stockholders will be reduced and the holders of new equity securities may have rights,
preferences or privileges senior to those of the holders of our common stock. If additional funds are raised
through a bank credit facility or the issuance of debt securities, the holder of such indebtedness would
have rights senior to the rights of common stockholders and the terms of such indebtedness could impose
restrictions on our operations. If we need to raise additional funds, we may not be able to do so on terms
favorable to us, or at all. If we cannot successfully execute our 2002 operating plan or raise adequate funds
on acceptable terms, we may not be able to continue to fund our operations.

We have only a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to evaluate am investment im our
common stock.

We have only a limited operating history on which you can evaluate our business, financial condition
and operating results. We face a number of risks encountered by early stage technology companies that
participate in new technology markets, including our ability to:

e manage our dependence on wireless data services which have only limited market acceptance
to date;
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° maintain our engineering and support organizations, as well as our distribution channels;
o negotiate and maintain favorable usage rates with telecommunications carriers;

o retain and expand our subscriber base at profitable rates;

° recoup our expenses associated with the wireless devices we resell to subscribers;

o manage expanding operations, including our ability to expand our systems if our subscriber base
grows substantially;

o attract and retain management and technical personnel; and

o anticipate and respond to market competition and changes in technologies such as wireless data
protocols and wireless devices.

We may not be successful in addressing or mitigating these risks and uncertainties, and if we are not
successful our business could be significantly and adversely affected.

To generate increased revenue we will have to increase substantially the number of our subscribers, which
may be difficult to accomplish.

We will have to increase substantially the number of our subscribers in order to achieve our business
plan. In addition to increasing our subscriber base, we will have to limit our churn, or the number of
subscribers who deactivate our service. Adding new subscribers will depend to a large extent on the
success of our direct and indirect distribution channels and acquisition strategy, and there can be no
assurance that they will be successful. Limiting our churn rate will require that we provide our subscribers
with a favorable experience in using our wireless service. Our subscribers’ experience may be
unsatisfactory to the extent that our service malfunctions or our customer care efforts, including our Web
site and 800 number customer service efforts, do not meet or exceed subscriber expectations. In addition,
factors beyond our control, such as technological limitations of the current generation of wireless devices,
which may cause our subscribers’ experience with our service to not meet their expectations, could
increase our churn rate and adversely affect our revenues.

The sales cycle for enterprise customers is typically longer than that for individual customers which
may negatively impact our near term subscriber and revenue growth forecasts.

During the last fiscal year, our subscriber base has shifted from primarily individual customers to
primarily enterprise customers. We plan to continue to focus on increasing the number of our enterprise
customers. Generally, the sales cycle for such enterprise customers is longer than that for individual
customers because the product and service deployments are on a larger scale and are more complicated,
requiring a longer decision-making period. Such longer sales cycle may negatively impact our near term
subscriber and revenue growth forecasts.

We meed to improve our systems to monitor our wireless airtime costs more effectively.

We seek to reduce our wireless airtime costs by periodically matching our subscribers’ airtime usage
needs to the most appropriate, lowest cost wireless carrier plans. It is possible for a small number of
subscribers, if we do not assign them to the proper airtime pricing plan, to significantly increase our costs.
The current systems that we use to monitor the airtime charges that we incur from our wireless carriers
do not permit us to timely and effectively respond to changes in volume and geographic location of
subscriber usage, which directly impact our costs of subscriber revenue. We currently use a manual system
to track such costs and monitor wireless plan usage. We have acquired and developed those automated
control systems; however, those automated systems have not been implemented. Therefore, we cannot
assure you that we will be able to successfully implement usage of such automated control systems or, if
implemented, that our automated control systems will be able to monitor all subscriber usage or improve
our gross margins.
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We have historically experienced and may again experience negative gross margins on our subscriber
revenue.

We intend to pass through to our subscribers all the airtime charges that we incur from our wireless
carriers; however, we have not always been and will not always be able to pass through such charges
because the pricing plans offered to us by our wireless carriers and to which we assign our subscribers may
not allow us to always cover our subscriber costs. For example, many of our subscribers have contracted
for our Go.Unlimited Plan, which provides for unlimited nationwide wireless Internet service for a fixed
monthly fee. If we assign those subscribers to a carrier plan that charges us an increasing fee as subscriber
usage increases, then as subscriber usage and our related airtime costs increase, our margins on subscriber
revenues would decrease and may become negative. Our airtime costs also increase substantially when
CDPD subscribers use our services outside of their pre-determined geographic area, which results in
roaming charges to us by the carriers that we historically did not pass on to our subscribers. During 2001,
we began charging our subscribers a per kilobyte fee for usage while roaming. We cannot assure you that
we will be able to recover these charges or that the charging of such fees will not increase our churn rate.
We have commenced acquisition and development of automated control systems. We may not be able to
successfully complete the acquisition or development of the automated systems necessary to monitor our
subscribers’ usage and roaming patterns and quickly switch our subscribers to a more appropriate, lower
cost airtime plan. In addition, while we continually seek to negotiate better pricing of wireless airtime
plans with our carriers, we cannot assure you that we will be successful in that regard.

We subsidize the mobile devices that we resell which results in negative gross margins on our equipment
revenue.

In order to facilitate the sale of our wireless Internet services, the sales prices of the mobile devices
manufactured by third parties that we sell to our subscribers may be below our costs for such devices.
Additionally, we have also provided many of our resellers and marketing alliance partners with
complimentary mobile devices and GoAmerica service during a trial period in order to facilitate
additional sales of our services. As a result, we have experienced, and expect to continue to experience,
negative gross margins on the mobile devices that we resell.

We may acquire or make investments in companies or technologies that could cause loss of value to our
stockliolders and disruption of our business.

We intend to explore opportunities to acquire companies, technologies or subscribers in the future.
Entering into an acquisition entails many risks, any of which could adversely affect our business,
including:

e failure to integrate the acquired assets and/or companies with our current business;
e the price we pay may exceed the value we eventually realize;

e loss of share value to our existing stockholders as a result of issuing equity securities as part or
all of the purchase price;

e potential loss of key employees from either our current business or the acquired business;
o entering into markets in which we have little or no prior experience;

e diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;
e assumption of unanticipated liabilities related to the acquired assets; and

¢ the business or technologies we acquire or in which we invest may have limited operating
histories and may be subject to many of the same risks we are.

We have limited resources and we may be unable to support effectively our amticipated growth im
operations.

We must continue to develop and expand our systems and operations as the number of subscribers
and the amount of information they wish to receive, as well as the number of services we offer, increases.
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This development and expansion has placed, and we expect it to continue to place, significant strain on
our managerial, operational and financial resources. We may be unable to develop and expand our
systems and operations for one or more of the following reasons:

e we may not be able to locate or hire at reasonable compensation rates qualified engineers and
other employees necessary to expand our capacity on a timely basis;

o we may not be able to obtain the hardware necessary to expand the subscriber capacity of our
systems on a timely basis;

° we may not be able to expand our customer service, billing and other related support systems; and
o we may not be able to obtain sufficient additional capacity from wireless carriers on a timely basis.

If we cannot manage our growth effectively, our business and operating results will suffer.
Additionally, any failure on our part to develop and maintain our wireless data services if we experience
rapid growth could significantly adversely affect our reputation and brand name which could reduce
demand for our services and adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

Cur business prospects depend in part on our ability to maintain and improve our services as well as to
develop mew services.

We believe that our business prospects depend in part on our ability to maintain and improve our
current services and to develop new services. Our services will have to achieve market acceptance,
maintain technological competitiveness and meet an expanding range of customer requirements. As a
result of the complexities inherent in our service offerings, major new wireless data services and service
enhancements require long development and testing periods. We may experience difficulties that could
delay or prevent the successful development, introduction or marketing of new services and service
enhancements. Additionally, our new services and service enhancements may not achieve market
acceptance.

If we do not respond effectively and om a timely basis to rapid techmological chamge, our business
could suffer.

The wireless and data communications industries are characterized by rapidly changing technologies,
industry standards, customer needs and competition, as well as by frequent new product and service
introductions. Our services are integrated with wireless handheld devices and the computer systems of our
corporate customers. Our services must also be compatible with the data networks of wireless carriers. We
must respond to technological changes affecting both our customers and suppliers. We may not be
successful in developing and marketing, on a timely and cost-effective basis, new services that respond to
technological changes, evolving industry standards or changing customer requirements. Cur success will
depend, in part, on our ability to accomplish all the following in a timely and cost-effective manner:

o effectively use and integrate new technologies;

o continue to develop our technical expertise;

o enhance our wireless data, engineering and system design services;

e develop applications for new wireless networks and services;

o develop services that meet changing customer needs;

o advertise and market our services; and

o influence and respond to emerging industry standards and other changes.

We depend upon wireless carriers’ networks. If we do not have continued access to sufficient capacity on
reliable metworks, our business will suffer.

Our success partly depends on our ability to buy sufficient capacity on or offer our services over the
networks of wireless carriers such as AT&T Wireless, Cingular Interactive, Motient, Verizon Wireless and
VoiceStream and on the reliability and security of their systems. We depend on these companies to
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provide uninterrupted and “bug free” service and would be adversely affected if they failed to provide the
required capacity or needed level of service. During 2001, some wireless carriers experienced financial
difficulties and sought protection under the bankruptcy laws. We cannot assure you that these companies
will emerge from bankruptcy or that others will not seek similar protection. Such bankruptcies may
result in discontinued or interrupted service and fewer network alternatives. In addition, although we
have some forward price protection in our existing agreements with certain carriers, we could be adversely
affected if wireless carriers were to increase the prices of their services. Our existing agreements with the
wireless carriers generally have one-to-three year terms. Some of these wireless carriers are, or could
become, our competitors.

We depend on third parties for sales of our products and services which could result in variable amd
unpredictable revenues. '

We rely substantially on the efforts of others to sell many of our wireless data communications
services. We are increasingly dependent on our indirect distribution alliance partners for implementation
of our sales and marketing initiatives. Should our relationship with any such distribution alliance partners
cease or be less successful than anticipated, the number of subscribers we obtain, subscriber revenue and
equipment revenue may decrease or not meet current growth expectations. While we monitor the
activities of our distributors and resellers, we cannot control how those who sell and market our products
and services perform and we cannot be certain that their performance will be satisfactory. If the number
of customers we obtain through these efforts is substantially lower than we expect for any reason, this
would have an adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

We depend on our key management and or recruiting and retaining key personmnel. The loss of our key
employees could adversely affect our business.

We are particularly dependent on Aaron Dobrinsky, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and
Joseph Korb, our President, for most of our strategic, managerial and marketing initiatives. The
unexpected loss of such officers would likely have an adverse effect on our business. In addition, because
of the technical nature of our services and the dynamic market in which we compete, our performance
depends on attracting and retaining other key employees. Competitors and others may attempt to recruit
our employees. A major part of our compensation to our key employees is in the form of stock option
grants. A prolonged depression in our stock price could make it difficult for us to retain our employees
and recruit additional qualified personnel. We currently maintain and are the beneficiary of key person
life insurance policies on the lives of Aaron Dobrinsky and Joseph Korb. We do not maintain insurance
policies for any of our other employees.

Wireless data systems failures could harm our business by injuring our reputation or lead to claims of
liability for delayed, improper or unsecured transmission of data.

A significant barrier to the growth of electronic commerce and wireless data services has been the
need for secure and reliable transmission of confidential information. Our existing wireless data services
are dependent on near immediate, continuous feeds from various sources. The ability of our subscribers
to quickly access data requires timely and uninterrupted connections with our wireless network carriers.
Any significant disruption from our backup landline feeds could result in delays in our subscribers’ ability
to receive such information. In addition, our systems could be disrupted by unauthorized access, computer
viruses and other accidental or intentional actions. We may incur significant costs to protect against the
threat of security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by such breaches. If a third party were able to
misappropriate our subscribers’ personal or proprietary information or credit card information, we could
be subject to claims, litigation or other potential liabilities that could adversely impact our business. There
can be no assurance that our systems will operate appropriately if we experience a hardware or software
failure. A failure in our systems could cause delays in transmitting data and, as a result, we may lose
customers or face litigation that could adversely affect our business.
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An interruption in the supply of products and services that we obtain from third parties could cause a
decline in sales of our services.

In designing, developing and supporting our wireless data services, we rely on wireless carriers,
mobile device manufacturers, content providers and software providers. These suppliers may experience
difficulty in supplying us products or services sufficient to meet our needs or they may terminate or fail
to renew contracts for supplying us these products or services on terms we find acceptable. Any significant
interruption in the supply of any of these products or services could cause a decline in sales of our services,
unless and until we are able to replace the functionality provided by these products and services. We also
depend on third parties to deliver and support reliable products, enhance their current products, develop
new products on a timely and cost-effective basis and respond to emerging industry standards and other
technological changes.

We may face increased competition which may negatively impact our prices for our services or cause us
to lose business opportumnities.

The market for our services is expected to become increasingly competitive. The widespread
adoption of industry standards in the wireless data communications market may make it easier for new
market entrants and existing competitors to introduce services that compete against ours. We developed
our solutions using standard industry development tools. Many of our agreements with wireless carriers,
wireless handheld device manufacturers and data providers are non-exclusive. Qur competitors may use
the same products and services in competition with us. With time and capital, it would be possible for
competitors to replicate our services and offer similar services at a lower price. We expect that we will
compete primarily on the basis of the functionality, breadth, quality and price of our services. Cur current
and potential competitors include:

o wireline Internet service providers and portals, such as America Online, Earthlink, MSN and
Yahoo!;

o wireless device manufacturers, such as Palm, Handspring, Motorola and RIM;

o wireless network carriers, such as AT&T Wireless, Verizon Wireless, Cingular Interactive, Sprint
PCS, VoiceStream and Nextel Communications, Inc.; and

° emerging wireless Internet services providers, including Neomar, AvantGo and those, such as
Aether Systems, Inc., focusing on specific industries.

Many of our existing and potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical,
marketing and distribution resources than we do. Additionally, many of these companies have greater
name recognition and more established relationships with our target customers. Furthermore, these
competitors may be able to adopt more aggressive pricing policies and offer customers more attractive
terms than we can. In addition, we have established strategic relationships with many of our potential
competitors. In the event such companies decide to compete directly with us, such relationships would
likely be terminated, which might have an adverse effect on our business and reduce our market share or
force us to lower prices to unprofitable levels.

Our intellectual property rights may net be adeguately fpmﬁec&ed under the curremt state of the law.

Our success substantially depends on our ability to sell services which are dependent on certain
intellectual property rights. We currently do not have patents on any of our intellectual property. We have
filed for a patent on certain aspects of our Go.Web technology and have also acquired two patent
applications from Hotpaper. We cannot assure you we will be successful in protecting our intellectual
property through patent law. In addition, although we have applied for U.S. federal trademark protection,
we do not have any U.S. federal trademark registrations for the marks “GoAmerica”, “Go.Web”, or
certain of our other marks and we may not be able to obtain such registrations. We rely primarily on trade
secret laws, patent law, copyright law, trademark law, unfair competition law and confidentiality
agreements to protect our intellectual property. To the extent that our technology is not adequately
protected by intellectual property law, other companies could develop and market similar products or
services which could adversely affect our business.

17




We may be sued by third parties for infringement of their proprietary rights and we may incur defense
costs and possibly royalty obligations or lose the right to use technology important to our business.

The telecommunications and software industries are characterized by protection and vigorous
enforcement of applicable intellectual property law. As the number of participants in our market
increases, the possibility of an intellectual property claim against us could increase. Any intellectual
property claims, with or without merit, could be time consuming and expensive to litigate or settle and
could divert management attention from administering our business. A third party asserting infringement
claims against us or our customers with respect to our current or future products may adversely affect us
by, for example, causing us to enter into costly royalty arrangements or forcing us to incur settlement or
litigation costs.

We may be subject to liability for transmitting certain information, and our insurance coverage mmy be
inadeguate to protect us from this lability.

We may be subject to claims relating to information transmitted over systems we develop or operate.
These claims could take the form of lawsuits for defamation, negligence, copyright or trademark
infringement or other actions based on the nature and content of the materials. Although we carry general
liability insurance, our insurance may not cover potential claims of this type or may not be adequate to
cover all costs incurred in defense of potential claims or to indemnify us for all liability that may be
imposed.

We may expand our operations into international markets which will subject us to addnﬁu@naﬂ msJks that
may aaﬂverrse[{y affect our business and operations.

We may expand our existing operations and enter international markets, which could demand
significant management attention and financial commitment. Our management has limited experience in
international operations, and we cannot guarantee that we will successfully implement and expand our
international operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations. Cperating in international markets will subject us to additional risks, including
unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, political and economic conditions, taxes, tariffs or other
barriers, difficulties in staffing and managing international operations, potential exchange and repatriation
controls on foreign earnings, longer sales and payment cycles and difficulty in accounts receivable
collection. Such risks may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Qur guarterly operating results are subject to significant fluctuations and, as a result, pericd-te-period
comparisons of cur results of operations are not necessarily meaningful.

"Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly in the future as a result of a variety of
factors. These factors include:

e the demand for and market acceptance of our services;
. o downward price adjustments by our competitors on services they offer that are similar to ours;
e changes in the mix of services sold by our competitors;
e technical difficuities or network downtime affecting wireless communications generally;
¢ the ability to meet any increased technological demands of our customers; and
e economic conditions specific to our industry.

Therefore, our operating results for any particular quarter may differ materially from our
expectations or those of security analysts and may not be indicative of future operating results. The failure
to meet expectations may cause the price of our common stock to decline substantially.
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Risks Particular To Our Industry

The market for our services is new and highly urcertain.

The market for wireless data services is still emerging and continued growth in demand for and
acceptance of these services remains uncertain. Current barriers to market acceptance of these services
include cost, reliability, functionality and ease of use. We cannot be certain that these barriers will be
overcome. If the market for our services does not grow or grows slower than we currently anticipate, cur
business, financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.

New laws and regulations that impact our industry could adversely affect our busimess.

We are not currently subject to direct regulation by the Federal Communications Commission or any
other governmental agency, other than regulations applicable to businesses in general. However, in the
future, we may become subject to regulation by the FCC or another regulatory agency. In addition, the
wireless carriers who supply us airtime are subject to regulation by the FCC and regulations that affect
them could adversely affect our business. Our business could suffer depending on the extent to which our
activities or those of our customers or suppliers are regulated.

Risks Particular To Stock Price
Our stock price, like that of many technology companies, has been and may continue o be volatile.

We expect that the market price of our common stock will fluctuate as a result of variations in our
quarterly operating results and other factors beyond our control. These fluctuations may be exaggerated
if the trading volume of our common stock is low. In addition, due to the technology-intensive and
emerging nature of our business, the market price of our common stock may rise and fall in response to
a variety of factors, including:

o announcements of technological or competitive developments;
e acquisitions or strategic alliances by us or our competitors;
e the gain or loss of a significant customer or order;

o changes in estimates of our financial performance or changes in recommendations by securities
analysts regarding us or our industry; or

e general market or economic conditions.

This risk may be heightened because our industry is new and evolving, characterized by rapid
technological change and susceptible to the introduction of new competing technologies or competitors.

In addition, equity securities of many technology companies have experienced significant price and
volume fluctuations. These price and volume fluctuations often have been unrelated to the operating
performance of the affected companies. Volatility in the market price of our common stock could result
in securities class action litigation. This type of litigation, regardless of the outcome, could result in
substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources.

We have anti-takeover defenses that could delay or prevent an acquisition and could adversely affect the
price of our common steck.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and provisions of Delaware law could delay
or prevent an acquisition or change of control of GoAmerica or otherwise adversely affect the price of
our common stock. For example, our certificate of incorporation authorizes undesignated preferred stock
which our board of directors can designate and issue without further action by our stockholders,
establishes a classified board of directors, eliminates the rights of stockholders to call a special meeting of
stockholders, eliminates the ability of stockholders to take action by written consent, and requires
stockholders to comply with advance notice requirements before raising a matter at a stockholders’
meeting. As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to the Delaware anti-takeover statute contained
in Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.
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We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock or other securities and
intend to retain any future earnings to finance the development and expansion of our business. We do not
anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Unless we pay
dividends, our stockholders will not be able to receive a return on their shares unless they sell them.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

Facilities

We own no real property. Our principal offices are located in Hackensack, New Jersey. The premises
located at 433 Hackensack Avenue consists of approximately 22,458 square feet and the related lease
expires on August 31, 2010. The premises located at 401 Hackensack Avenue consists of approximately
15,917 square feet and the related lease expires on May 14, 2007. In addition to the network operating
facility at our Hackensack office, in December 1999, we entered into a Facilities Maintenance Agreement
with Data General, a division of EMC Corporation, pursuant to which we operate a network operating
center at their facility in New York City. The initial term of the Facilities Maintenance Agreement shall
run until February 29, 2004. The New York facility, located at 55 Broad Street, is our primary network
operating center. The New York facility consists of approximately 7,000 square feet. The offices of Wynd
are located in San Luis Obispo, California and consist of approximately 7,391 square feet. Qur lease on
the Wynd offices expires on January 31, 2004. The offices of Hotpaper are located in San Francisco,
California. The Hotpaper offices consist of approximately 9,203 square feet and the lease expires on
December 5, 2002. The offices of OutBack are located in San Luis Obispo, California and consist of
approximately 4,018 square feet. Our lease on the QutBack offices expires on July 31, 2004. We believe
that our current facilities are adequate to support our existing operations. We also believe that we will be
able to obtain suitable additional facilities on commercially reasonable terms on an “as needed” basis.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

On February 15, 2002, Eagle Truck Lines Inc. (a/k/a AirEagle, Inc.) filed suit against GoAmerica, Inc.
in the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles seeking payment in an
amount not less than $590,000, plus damages, expenses, interest and costs of suit, based on the alleged
failure of GoAmerica, Inc., as successor in interest to Flash Creative Management, Inc., to perform its
obligations pursuant to a written contract dated on or about July 2, 1999, by and between Flash and
AirEagle. AirEagle alleged that GoAmerica, Inc. assumed the rights and liabilities under such contract
as a result of its purchase of substantially all of the assets of Flash in November 2000. AirEagle further
alleged that it has completely performed its obligations under the contract and that GoAmerica has failed
to complete its development services and deliver the software product contemplated by the contract and
was thus unjustly enriched. This matter is in its early stages and we intend to vigorously defend such
matter. There can be no assurance, however, that such matter will be decided in our favor.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

Not applicable.

20




PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FCR OUR COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND USE OF PROCEEDS.

Market for our Common Stock

Prior to April 7, 2000, there was no established market for our common stock. Since April 7, 2000,
our common stock has traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “GOAM.”

The last reported price for our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market on March 22, 2002 was
$1.59. The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices for our common stock from its first day
of trading on April 7, 2000 through December 31, 2001 as reported on the Nasdaq National Market.

Quarter Ended High Low
June 30, 20001, ... $19.31 $5.25
September 30, 2000 . . .. ... L $15.69 $7.06
December 31, 2000 . ... .ot e e $12.19 $4.25
March 31, 2001 . . ... e e $ 7.25 $1.66
June 30, 2000 ... o e $ 4.50 $1.69
September 30, 2001 . . ..o\ttt $ 215 $0.80
December 31, 2001 . ... e $ 3.05 $0.66

(1) Represents high and low sales prices for the period from April 7, 2000, when our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq
National Market to the end of the second quarter.

As of March 22, 2002, the approximate number of holders of record of our common stock was 299
and the approximate number of beneficial holders of our common stock was 19,837.
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Related Stockholder Matters

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We intend to retain
earnings, if any, to fund future growth and the operation of our business.

The following information relates to all securities issued by us during the fourth quarter of 2001
which were not registered under applicable securities laws at the time of grant, issuance and/or sale:

1. Option Grants

On December 19, 2001, we granted stock options to various employees pursuant to our 1999 Stock
Plan. All of such stock options were granted at an exercise price equal to the fair market value on the close
of business on the date of grant, with four year vesting. The aggregate number of shares of common stock
underlying such stock option grants totaled 130,160.

2. Common Stock Issuances
Acquisition of CutBack

On November 13, 2001, we acquired QutBack pursuant to the Merger Agreement and Plan of
Reorganization by and among GoAmerica, Inc., GoAmerica Acquisition III Corp. and QutBack
Resource Group, Inc. In consideration for the acquisition, we issued 134,996 restricted shares of our
common stock to OutBack equal in value to approximately $130,000 based upon the average closing price
of our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market for five (5) trading days immediately preceding the
acquisition.

3. Warrants

On November 13, 2001, we issued warrants to QutBack pursuant to the Merger Agreement and Plan
of Reorganization by and among GoAmerica, Inc., GoAmerica Acquisition III Corp. and OutBack
Resource Group, Inc. All such warrants were granted at an exercise price of $3.00 per share, with a three
year exercise period from the date of grant. The aggregate number of shares of common stock underlying
such warrant grants totaled 67,500.

We did not employ an underwriter in connection with the issuance of the securities described in this
Item 5. We believe that the issuances of the foregoing securities were exempt from registration under
either (i} Section 4(2) of the Securities Act as transactions not involving any public offering and such
securities having been acquired for investment and not with a view to distribution, or (ii) Rule 701 under
the Securities Act as transactions made pursuant to a written compensatory benefit plan or pursuant to
a written contract relating to compensation. All recipients had adequate access to information about
GoAmerica.

Use of Proceeds

On April 6, 2000, the Commission declared effective our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No.
333-94801) as filed with the Commission in connection with our initial public offering of common stock,
which was managed by Bear, Stearns & Co., Inc., Chase H&Q, U.S. Bancorp Piper Jaffray, Wit
SoundView and DLIdirect, now Harrisdirect. Pursuant to such Registration Statement, on April 12, 2000
we consummated the issuance and sale of an aggregate of 10,000,000 shares of our common stock, for a
gross aggregate offering price of $160 million. We incurred underwriting discounts and commissions of
approximately $11.2 million. In connection with such offering, we incurred total expenses of approxi-
mately $2.6 million. As of December 31, 2001, approximately $35.0 million of the $146.2 million in net
proceeds received by us upon consummation of such offering, pending specific application, were invested
in short-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing instruments. The remaining $111.2 million of the net
proceeds have been specifically applied as follows: (i) $5.1 million for the acquisition of other businesses,
(ii) $29.8 million for sales and marketing expenses, (iii) $10.4 million for the purchase of capital assets, and
(iv) $65.9 million for working capital needs.
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ITEM 6, SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA.

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below with respect to our statement of operations
data for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, and with respect to the consolidated balance
sheet data at December 31, 2001 and 2000 are derived from and are qualified by reference to our audited
consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto found at “Item 14. Exhibits, Financial
Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K.” Qur consolidated statement of operations data for the
years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997 and consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 1999,
1998 and 1997 are derived from audited consolidated financial statements not included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The selected consolidated financial data set forth below should be read in
conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, our audited consclidated financial statements and
related notes thereto found at “Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form
8-K” and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Years Ended December 31,

{in thousands, except for per share data)
2601 2000 1999 1998 1997

Consolidated Statement of
Operations Data:

Revenues (1):

Subscriber ... ... il $ 28,308 $ 8,535 $ 1,104 $ 360 $ 115
Equipment.................... 10,088 5,097 1,420 449 33
Other ...............cciuin.. 618 242 207 18 25
Total revenue ................... 39,014 13,874 2,731 827 173
Costs and expenses:
Cost of subscriber revenue. ... .. 22,578 7,194 4,051 304 88
Cost of equipment revenue ..... 20,665 6,090 1,648 532 15
Cost of network operations ... .. 3,264 623 375 — —
Sales and marketing............ 24,700 35,807 3,283 909 243
General and administrative .. ... 40,685 26,853 3,970 1,549 841
Research and development. .. . .. 4,174 762 465 —_ —_
Depreciation and amortization . . 2,987 994 275 124 32
Amortization of goodwill and
other intangibles............. 18,398 7,247 — — —
Impairment of long-lived assets. . 25,511 — — — —
Settlement costs ............... — — 297 — —
Total costs and expenses.......... 162,962 85,570 14,364 3,418 1,219
Loss from operations. ............ (123,948) (71,696) (11,633) (2,591) (1,046)
Interest income, net.............. 3,099 6,944 165 14 —
Net loss before benefit from
INCOME taxes . .....o.o.ovvvvnnnnnn $(120,849)  $(64,752)  $(11,468)  $(2,577)  $(1,046)
Income tax benefit............... 578 — — — —
Netloss .....coviiiiiininennn, $(120,271)  $(64,752)  $(11,468)  $(2,577)  $(1,046)

Beneficial conversion feature and
accretion of redemption value of
mandatorily redeemable

convertible preferred stock. . .... — (30,547) (10,463) — —
Net loss applicable to common

stockholders. .................. $(120,271)  $(95,299)  $(21,931)  $(2,577)  $(1,046)
Basic net loss per share applicable

to common stockholders........ $ 227 $ (219 § (1.02) $ (014) § (0.07)

Diluted net loss per share

applicable to common
stockholders................... $ (225 8§ (218) § (1.00) $ (0.14) § (0.06)

Weighted average shares used in
computation of basic net loss per

share applicable to common
stockholders. .................. 53,027 43,426 21,590 18,391 16,083

Weighted average shares used in
computation of diluted net loss

per share applicable to common
stockholders. .................. 53,354 43,678 22,025 18,826 16,518

(1) On April 1, 2001, we adopted EITF 00-14, “Accounting for Certain Sales Incentives,” which provides guidance on accounting
for discounts, coupons, rebates and free products, as well as the income statement classification of these discounts, coupons,
rebates and free products. Adoption of EITF 00-14 resulted in the reclassification of certain sales incentives as a reduction of
subscriber revenue, however, had no impact on total revenues. All prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with
current year presentation.
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As of December 31,
(In thousands)

20901 2000 1999 1998 1997

Balance Sheet Datas
Cash and cash equivalents .......... $34,977 $114,411 $ 6,344 $1,961 $ 20
Working capital (deficit) ............ 33,292 113,530 2,426 1,476 (143)
Total @assets ........covvvvnnnnn.s. 87,785 207,746 9,757 3,010 324
Series A redeemable convertible

preferred stock .............. ..., — — 20,755 — —
Series B redeemable convertible

preferred stock ........... ... ..., — — — — —
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) . .. 66,413 181,530 (16,659) 2,225 148

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIES OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The results shown in this Annual Report of Form 10-K are not necessarily
indicative of the results we will achieve in any future periods.

Overview

We are a wireless data and Internet solutions provider. We derive our revenue primarily from the sale
of basic and value-added wireless data services and the sale of related mobile devices to our subscribers.
During March 1997, we commenced offering our services to individuals and businesses. Since our
inception, we have invested significant capital to build our wireless network operations and e-commerce
system as well as our billing system. Recently, we have invested additional capital in the development of
our software applications Go.Web and Mobile Office as well as other software applications. We provide
and expect to continue to provide mobile devices made by third parties to our customers at prices below
our costs for such devices. We also expect to continue to incur sales and marketing, systems development
and administrative expenses. We have incurred operating losses since our inception and expect to
continue to incur operating losses for at least the next several quarters.Therefore, we will need to
significantly improve our overall gross margins, further reduce our selling, general and administrative
expenses and generate significant revenue to become profitable and sustain profitability on a quarterly or
annual basis. We will have to increase substantially our subscriber base in order to achieve our business
plan.

Cur subscriber revenue primarily consists of monthly service fees, which we recognize as revenue
when the services are provided to the subscriber. Subscriber revenue accounted for approximately 72.6%,
61.5% and 40.4% of our total revenue during 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. We currently offer a
variety of mobile data service plans. Our Go.Unlimited Plan, which is our most utilized plan, provides
unlimited data usage on any mobile device for a fixed monthly fee, which currently ranges from $39.95 to
$59.95 for retail subscribers. During 2001, we began charging our subscribers a per kilobyte fee for using
a mobile device outside of a designated geographical area, or roaming, such fees are recognized as
revenue when collected due to our limited history in collecting these amounts. We also generally charge
a non-refundable activation fee upon initial subscription. To the extent such fees exceed the related costs,
they are deferred and recognized ratably over the life of the related service contracts which is generally
six months, one year or two years. We offer new subscribers a 14-day trial period during which they can
cancel our service without any penalty, although we do not refund the pro-rated fee for that trial period,
which we include in our revenue. Subscribers to our plans are subject to six-month, one-year or two-year
contracts that provide for early cancellation fees.

We also typically sell third-party mobile devices in conjunction with a service agreement to a new
subscriber. Equipment revenue accounted for approximately 25.8%, 36.8% and 52.0% of our total revenue
during 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. We recognize equipment revenue at the time of the shipment of
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the mobile device to a subscriber. During 2001, approximately 34% of our subscribers purchased a mobile
device upon their initial subscription. Over time, we expect that such percentage will decrease as mobile
devices for data transmission become more prevalent.

In addition to our subscriber and equipment revenue, we historically have generated other revenue
which consists of consulting services relating to the development and implementation of wireless data
systems for certain corporate customers. We do not intend for consulting services to be a significant
element of our business in the future. Such consulting revenue is typically recognized as the work is
performed.

During 2001, we experienced negative overall gross margins, which consist of our subscriber revenue,
equipment revenue and other revenue offset by the cost of subscriber revenue, cost of equipment revenue
and cost of network operations, exclusive of depreciation and amortization expense. Included in the
negative overall gross margin was a $8.1 million non-cash inventory charge related to an adjustment to
value our inventory at the lower of cost or market and the establishment of a reserve for unit quantities
in excess of expected demand. We expect to achieve positive overall gross margins during 2002 primarily
because of continuing positive gross margins on our subscriber revenue, which will be partially offset by
continuing negative gross margins on our resale of equipment. We believe that our gross margins on
subscriber revenue will improve during 2002 as a result of, among other things, reduced costs associated
with roaming usage and price changes. Our cost of subscriber revenue consists primarily of wireless
airtime costs. Our airtime costs are determined by agreements we have with several wireless carriers.
Typically, we have one to three-year contracts to buy data network capacity either for an agreed amount
of kilobytes per subscriber at a flat fee or on a cents-per-kilobyte basis. We intend to pass through to our
subscribers all the airtime charges that we incur from our wireless carriers; however, we have not always
been and will not always be able to pass through such charges because the pricing plans offered to us by
our wireless carriers to which we assign our subscribers may not allow us to always cover our subscriber
costs. For example, if we assign our Go.Unlimited Plan subscribers to a carrier plan that charges us an
increasing fee as subscriber usage increases, then as subscriber usage and our related airtime costs
increase, our margins on subscriber revenues would decrease.

Our airtime costs also increase substantially when subscribers use our services outside of their
pre-determined geographic area, which results in roaming charges to us by the carriers that we historically
did not pass on to our subscribers. During 2001, we began charging our subscribers a per kilobyte fee for
usage while roaming. Such charges may increase our churn rate which could decrease our subscriber
revenue. In accordance with our revenue recognition policies, we are not recognizing revenue associated
with roaming usage until it is actually collected. However, we are recognizing 100% of related roaming
charges when incurred. We do not have and may not be able to develop the automated systems necessary
to monitor our subscribers’ usage and roaming patterns and quickly switch our subscribers to a more
appropriate, lower cost airtime plan. In addition, while we continually seek to negotiate better pricing of
wireless airtime plans with our carriers, we cannot assure you that we will be successful in that regard. We
also have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, negative gross margins on the mobile devices
that we resell. See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of the risks relating to our historically negative gross
margins and our need to improve our systems.

Our sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for marketing
personnel, advertising and promotions, travel and entertainment and other related costs. We expect sales
and marketing expenses to decrease as a percentage of sales as we continue to leverage our distribution
relationships to further our sales and marketing initiatives, as well as reducing costs as set forth in our 2002
operating plan. Our general and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation and related
costs for general corporate and business development, along with rent and other related costs. We expect
general and administrative expenses to decrease as a percentage of our annual revenues primarily due to
completion of the development and implementation of our e-commerce and cuystomer billing systems, as
well as reducing costs as set forth in our 2002 operating plan. Our research and development expenses
consist primarily of compensation and related costs and professional service fees. Depreciation and
amortization expenses consist primarily of depreciation expenses arising from equipment purchased for
our network operations center and other property and equipment purchases.
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During 1999 and the first quarter of 2000, we granted options to certain of our employees at exercise
prices below the deemed fair market value per share of our common stock. Such grants resulted in
non-cash employee compensation expenses based on the difference, on the date of grant, between the fair
market value and the exercise price of stock options granted to employees. The resulting deferred
employee compensation is being amortized over the vesting periods of the grants. During 2001, we
incurred an aggregate of $4.0 million in non-cash employee compensation as a result of stock option and
warrant grants during 1999 and the first quarter of 2000 which were granted at prices below the fair
market value of our common stock. During 2002, we expect to incur an aggregate of $2.4 million in
non-cash employee compensation expense as a resuit of these grants and the remaining balance of
deferred compensation will be amortized in future periods.

Net interest income consists primarily of interest earned on cash and cash equivalents. We expect
interest income to decrease as we continue to utilize funds during the course of our operations.

During 2000, we acquired Wynd and Hotpaper as well as certain assets and liabilities of Flash for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $65.7 million. The purchase price of these entities included the
issuance of an aggregate of 5,437,388 shares of our common stock and cash (net of cash acquired) of
approximately $7.7 million, including merger related costs. As a result of these acquisitions, we recorded
intangibles including trade names, developed technology, assembled work force and customer lists
aggregating approximately $22.5 million and goodwill of approximately $44.8 million.

During 2001, we identified indicators of possible impairment of our long-lived assets, principally
goodwill and other acquired intangible assets recorded with regard to the acquisitions of Wynd, Hotpaper
and Flash. Such indicators included the continued deterioration in the business climate for wireless
Internet service providers, significant declines in the market values of the our competitors in the wireless
Internet services industry, recent changes in our 2002 operating and cash flow forecasts, and changes in
our strategic plans for certain of our acquired businesses. We determined the carrying value of these
long-lived assets exceeded their respective fair values, thus requiring a write-down totaling $25.4 million.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses
our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires
management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going
basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgments, including those related to revenue recognition,
allowance for doubtful accounts, inventory valuation and recoverability of our intangible assets.
Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Management believes the following critical accounting policies, among others, affect its more
significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements. We
derive our revenue primarily from the sale of basic and value-added wireless data services and the sale
of related mobile devices. Subscriber revenue consists primarily of monthly charges for access and usage
and is recognized as the services are provided. We also charge our CDPD subscribers a per kilobyte fee
for using a mobile device outside of a designated geographical area, or roaming, such fees are recognized
as revenue when collected. We also generally charge a non-refundable activation fee upon initial
subscription. To the extent such fees exceed the related costs, they are deferred and recognized ratably
over the life of the related service contracts which is generally six months, one year or two years.
Equipment revenue is recognized upon shipment and transfer of title to the end user. We also provide
mobile devices to our customers at prices below our costs as incentives for customers to enter into service
agreements. Such incentives are recorded as a reduction to subscriber and equipment revenue, at the time
of sale, allocated based upon the relative fair value of the equipment and services provided as determined
by their list selling prices. We estimate the collectibility of our trade receivables. A considerable amount
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of judgment is required in assessing the ultimate realization of these receivables including analysis of
historical collection rates and the current credit-worthiness of significant customers. Significant changes in
required reserves have been recorded in recent periods and may occur in the future due to the current
market conditions. When warranted, we write down inventory for estimated excess or obsolete inventory
equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and the estimated market value based upon
assumptions about future demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable
than those projected by management, additional inventory write-downs may be required. In assessing the
recoverability of our goodwill and other intangibles, we must make assumptions regarding estimated
future cash fiows. If such assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record impairment
charges for these assets not previously recorded. On January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” and will be required to analyze
our goodwill for impairment issues during the first six months of 2002, and on an annual basis thereafter
or upon the occurrence of an impairment indicator. During the year ended December 31, 2001, we
recorded a $25.4 million charge for impairment of long-lived assets arising from our acquisitions made
during 2000.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated certain financial data as a percentage of
revenue:

Percentage of Revenue

Years Ended
December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Revenue:
Subscriber................. oL 72.6% 61.5% 40.4%
Equipment ......... ... ..o i 258 36.8 52.0
Other........ ... i i, _ 1.6 17 _ 76
Totalrevenue ............... ...t 100.0 100.0 100.0
Costs and expenses:
Cost of subscriber revenue. ................. 57.9 51.9 148.3
Cost of equipment revenue ................. 53.0 43.9 60.4
Cost of network operations................. 8.4 4.5 13.7
Sales and marketing .......... ... ... ... 63.2 258.1 120.2
General and administrative ................. 104.3 193.5 1454
Research and development ................. 10.7 55 17.0
Depreciation and amortization .............. 7.7 72 10.1
Amortization of intangibles................. 472 522 —
Impairment of long-lived assets ............. 65.3 — —
Settlement CoSts. ...........o il = - _109
Total costs and expenses ................. 417.7 616.8 526.0
Loss from operations .................... 3177 516.8 426.0
Interestincome ...............ooiiiiiiii..., 7.9 50.1 6.0
Income tax benefit.................. ... L _ 15 _ _
Netloss. . .ovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii, 308.3% . 466,7% 420.0%

|
|
|

Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2000

Subscriber revenue. Subscriber revenue increased to $28.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2001 from $8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The increase was primarily due to having
a larger average subscriber base in the year ended December 31, 2001 than in the year ended
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December 31, 2000. Qur subscriber base increased to 140,927 subscribers at December 31, 2001 from
47,632 subscribers at December 31, 2000. A significant portion of such new subscribers were enterprise
customers. The sales cycle for enterprise customers is longer than that for individual customers, which has
resulted in a decrease to our subscriber revenue growth rate. We expect the number of our subscribers will
increase primarily as a result of our continued leveraging of strategic agreements. Our average monthly
revenue per user, or ARPU decreased to $25.02 for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $26.59 for
the year ended December 31, 2000. The decline in ARPU was due to an increase in the number of new
subscribers from the sale of our Go.Web value added services, which generally have a lower monthly
ARPU than our full-service offerings. During 2001, we began charging our subscribers a per kilobyte fee
for roaming. Amounts billed to subscribers for roaming that have been recognized as revenue have been
insignificant to date.

Equipment revenue. Equipment revenue increased to $10.1 million for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001 from $5.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This increase was primarily due to
an increase in the number of the mobile devices sold to an increased number of subscribers during the
year ended December 31, 2001 compared to the year ended December 31, 2000.

Other revenue. Other revenue increased to $618,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001 from
$242,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000. This increase was primarily due to the November 2000
acquisition of Flash, resulting in additional revenues from consulting services. We have not otherwise
pursued consulting projects and services, nor do we plan to in the future.

Cost of subscriber revenue. Cost of subscriber revenue increased to $22.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 from $7.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This increase was due to an
increase in our subscriber base and the related increase in airtime usage, as well as higher than anticipated
roaming costs incurred, during the year ended December 31, 2001, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2000. Roaming costs were $6.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. These costs
were partially offset when we renegotiated certain contractual obligations resulting in a $1.9 million
one-time reduction of accruals for certain subscriber-related costs recorded in prior periods. We expect
roaming costs either to be recovered as we now bill our subscribers for these costs or reduced as a result
of our new pricing plans. We expect the number of subscribers and related use of our services to increase,
which will result in increased costs of subscriber airtime.

Cost of equipment revenue. Cost of equipment revenue increased to $20.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 from $6.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This increase primarily was
due to inventory related charges of approximately $8.1 million as well as an increase in the number of
mobile devices sold during the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to the year ended December 31,
2000. The inventory related charges primarily relate to wireless modems supporting laptop and older
PALM OS based models for which sales were lower than expected and a charge for a lower of cost to
market adjustment related to other equipment which remained unsold.

Cost of network operations. Cost of network operations increased to $3.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 from $623,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000. This increase was due to the
opening of our Wireless Internet Connectivity Center in New York City during the fourth quarter 2000.

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses decreased to $24.7 million for the year ended
December 31,2001 from $35.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This decrease primarily was
due to decreased advertising costs paid to third parties of approximately $14.5 million, partially offset by
an increase in salaries and benefits for personnel performing sales and marketing activities of approxi-
mately $3.1 million. We expect sales and marketing expenses to decline further as we continue to leverage
our distribution relationships to further our sales and marketing initiatives, as well as reducing costs as set
forth in our 2002 operating plan.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increased to $40.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001 from $26.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This increase
primarily was due to increased salaries and benefits for personnel performing business development and
general corporate activities of approximately $10.7 million, the outsourcing of our customer and technical
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support centers of approximately $4.2 million, increase in our bad debt expense of approximately
$3.8 million, increased facility costs of approximately $1.5 million, infrastructure buildout of approxi-
mately $2.7 million, which was incrementally increased as a result of the acquisitions of Hotpaper and
Flash and was partially offset by a decrease of approximately $9.1 million in stock-based compensation.
We expect general and administrative expenses to decline as a percentage of revenue as we complete
certain phases of our infrastructure buildout, as well as reducing costs as set forth in our 2002 operating
plan.

Research and development. Research and development expense increased to $4.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001 from $762,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000. This increase was
primarily due to our continued development and enhancement of our proprietary Go.Web technology.
We expect research and development expenses to decline as we utilize resources from our recent purchase
of OutBack to continue to develop and maintain our Go.Web technology rather than using outside
consultants.

Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles. ~ Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles
increased for the year ended December 31, 2001 to $18.4 million from $7.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. This was primarily attributable to a full year of amortization of goodwill and other
intangibles arising from the acquisitions of Wynd, Hotpaper and Flash.

Impairment of long-lived assets. During the fourth quarter of 2001, we identified indicators of
possible impairment of our long-lived assets, principally goodwill and other acquired intangible assets
recorded upon the acquisitions of Wynd, Hotpaper and Flash. Such indicators included the continued
deterioration in the business climate for wireless Internet service providers, significant declines in the
market values of our competitors in the wireless Internet services industry, recent changes in our 2002
operating and cash flow forecasts, and changes in our strategic plans for certain of our acquired
businesses. With the assistance of independent valuation experts, we performed asset impairment tests
and determined the fair value of the impaired long-lived assets for the respective acquired entities. Fair
value was determined primarily using the discounted cash flow method. A write-down of goodwill and
intangible assets totaling $25.4 million was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2001, reflecting the
amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceed their respective fair values. The write-down
consisted of $13.0 million for goodwill, $12.4 million for other acquired intangible assets. In addition, a
write-down of property and equipment totaling $97,000 was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2001.

Interest income, net. Interest income decreased to $3.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2001 from $6.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This decrease was primarily due to the use
of cash to fund our losses from operations and for infrastructure build out.

Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1999

Subscriber revenue. Subscriber revenue increased to $8.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2000 from $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. The increase was primarily due to having
a larger average subscriber base in the year ended December 31, 2000 than in the year ended
December 31, 1999 as a result of increased sales and marketing efforts and our acquisition of Wynd. Our
subscriber base increased to 47,632 subscribers at December 31, 2000 from 5,859 subscribers at
December 31, 1999. The increase in subscriber revenue was offset in part by lower average revenue per
subscriber resulting primarily from an increase in the number of new subscribers from the sale of our
Go.Web value added services, which generally have a lower monthly ARPU than our full-service
offerings.

Equipment revenue. Equipment revenue increased to $5.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2000 from $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This increase was primarily due to an
increase in the number of the mobile devices sold during the year ended December 31, 2000 compared
to the year ended December 31, 1999,

Other revenue. Other revenue increased to $242,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000 from
$207,000 for the year ended December 31, 1999. This increase was primarily due to the acquisition of
Flash, resulting in additional revenues from consulting services.
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Cost of subscriber revenue. Cost of subscriber revenue increased to $7.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000 from $4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This increase was primarily
due to an increase in our subscriber base and a related increase in airtime usage during the year ended
December 31, 2000 compared to the year ended December 31, 1999. Our cost of subscriber revenue
consists primarily of wireless airtime costs. We achieved positive gross margin for the year ended
December 31, 2000 due to our placement of subscribers in more favorable rate plans.

Cost of equipment revenue. Cost of equipment revenue increased to $6.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000 from $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This increase was primarily
due to an increase in the number of mobile devices sold during the year ended December 31, 2000
compared to the year ended December 31, 1999.

Cost of network operations. Cost of network operations increased to $623,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2000 from $375,000 for the year ended December 31, 1999. This increase was due primarily
to the opening of our Wireless Internet Connectivity Center in New York City during the fourth quarter
2000.

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses increased to $35.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000 from $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This increase was primarily
due to increased advertising costs paid to third parties of approximately $23.7 million, increased salaries
and benefits of approximately $2.2 million for the additional personnel performing sales and marketing
activities, non-cash stock-based compensation of approximately $2.1 million and non-cash amortization of
approximately $1.1 million related to warrants issued in connection with certain marketing and
distribution agreements.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increased to $26.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2000 from $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This increase was
primarily due to the addition of salaries and benefits of $2.5 million for personnel performing business
development and general corporate activities, non-cash stock-based compensation of $8.5 million, as well
as incremental costs associated with the operations of Wynd, Hotpaper and Flash, acquired during 2000.

Research and development. Research and development expense increased to $762,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2000 from $465,000 for the year ended December 31, 1999.

Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles. Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles
amounted to $7.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This was a result of our acquisitions of
Wynd, Hotpaper and Flash.

Settlement costs. Settlement costs for the year ended December 31, 1999 represent the non-cash
charge resulting from the settlement of our obligations arising from claims by certain stockholders relating
to the sale of equity securities. Such settlement costs represent the fair value of options and warrants
issued to such stockholders. No such costs were incurred during 2000.

Interest income, net. Interest income increased to $6.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000
from $165,000 for the year ended December 31, 1999. Such income was primarily due to increased cash
balances as a result of our initial public offering and private placement financings completed in 2000.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we financed our operations through private placements of our equity securities
and our redeemable convertible preferred stock, which resulted in aggregate net proceeds of approxi-
mately $18.4 million through December 31, 1999. During the first quarter of 2000, we issued and sold
648,057 shares of Series B Preferred Stock for net proceeds of approximately $24.6 million. In April 2000,
we consummated our initial public offering of 10,000,000 shares of our common stock at a price to the
public of $16.00 per share, all of which were issued and sold for net proceeds of $146.2 million.

We have incurred significant operating losses since our inception and as of December 31, 2001 have
an accumulated deficit of $200.3 million. During 2001, we incurred a net loss of $120.3 million and used
$68.5 million of cash to fund operating activities. As of December 31, 2001 we had $35.0 million in cash
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and cash equivalents ($24.2 million at March 31, 2002), exclusive of $1.4 million in restricted cash
supporting certain letters of credit. In order to reduce operating expenses, during 2001, we reduced the
number of our employees by outsourcing certain operating functions, modified certain of our pricing
strategies to recover the costs incurred for roaming, and, in certain instances, suspended service to a
limited number of subscribers contributing to excessive roaming costs. Cur 2002 operating plan includes
further reductions in headcount as well as significant reductions in sales and marketing expenditures and
capital expenditures from the levels incurred during 2001. As part of our 2002 operating plan, we expect
to reduce headcount in sales and marketing as we continue to leverage our distribution relationships.
Additionally, we expect to reduce headcount in general and administration as we complete certain phases
of our infrastructure buildout. We anticipate these headcount reductions will occur during the second
quarter 2002 and continue into the third quarter 2002. In the event we are unable to achieve our plans,
additional further reductions may be required. We currently anticipate that our available cash resources
will be sufficient to fund our operating needs for at least the next 12 months. Thereafter, we may require
additional financing. We do, however, plan to raise additional capital either through public or private
equity or debt financing to primarily finance the execution of our anticipated strategic initiatives. At this
time, we do not have any bank credit facility or other working capital credit line under which we may
borrow funds for working capital or other general corporate purposes. In the event we need to raise
additional funds, we may not be able to do so on terms favorable to us, or at all. In the event we cannot
successfully execute our 2002 operating plan or raise adequate funds on acceptable terms, we may not be
able to continue to fund our operations.

Net cash used in operating activities was $68.5 million, $49.3 million and $6.7 million for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The principal use of cash in each of these periods
was to fund our losses from operations.

Net cash used in investing activities was $10.3 million, $13.5 million and $643,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2001, we used cash in
investment activities for purchases of $9.2 million of property, equipment and leasehold improvements
and $1.0 million for the acquisitions of certain patents. For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999,
we used cash in investment activities for purchases of property, equipment and leasehold improvements
and acquisitions, including Hotpaper and Flash. We expect capital expenditures to decrease since we have
substantially completed the development and implementation of our e-commerce and billing systems.

Net cash used in financing activities was $649,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001. Net cash
provided by financing activities was $170.8 million and $11.8 million for the years ended December 31,
2000 and 1999, respectively. Cash provided by financing activities in each of these periods was primarily
attributable to proceeds from public and private equity offerings.

As of December 31, 2001, our principal commitments consisted of obligations outstanding under
operating leases. As of December 31, 2001, future minimum payments for non-cancelable operating leases
having terms in excess of one year amounted to $12.8 million, of which $2.7 million is payable in 2002. In
addition, as of December 31, 2001, we had commitments to purchase $1.5 million of inventory.
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The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2001, and the effect such
obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods.

Less than 1-3 4-5 After
December 31, (In thousands) Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Contractual Cbligations:
Capital Lease Obligations
Obligations. .............. $ 1,172 $ 743 $ 427 $ 2 $ —
Operating Lease
Obligations. .............. 12,822 2,736 3,568 2,848 3,670
Total Contractual Cash
Obligations. . ............. $13,994 $3,479 $3,995 $2,851 $3,670
Other Commercial
Commitments:
Standby Letter of Credit. .. .. $ 781 $§ 175 $ 606 $§ — $ —
Inventory Purchases......... 1,500 1,500 — — —
Total Commercial
Commitments ............ $ 2,281 $1,675 $ 606 § — $ —

We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our key executives which provide for
fixed compensation and bonuses based upon our operating results. Our maximum aggregate cash liability
under the agreements, if we terminated these employees, is approximately $1.0 million at December 31,
2001. We are currently renegotiating the terms of the employment agreements with our executive officers.
Such negotiations may result in increased cash liabilities under those agreements.

As of December 31, 2001, we had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $135.7 million
for Federal income tax purposes that will expire through 2020. The state tax benefit during 2001 of
$578,000 is attributable to our sale of certain state net operating loss carryforwards. For financial reporting
purposes, a valuation allowance has been recognized to offset the deferred tax assets related to these
carryforwards. Due to limitations imposed by the Tax Reform Act of 1986, and as a result of a significant
change in our ownership in 1999, the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards that arose prior to
such ownership change is subject to an annual limitation of $1.4 million. In addition, we acquired
additional operating losses through our acquisitions of Wynd and Hotpaper. We believe that an ownership
change has occurred with respect to these entities. The effect of an ownership change would be the
imposition of an annual limitation on the use of net operating loss carryforwards attributable to periods
before such change. We have not performed a detailed analysis to determine the amount of the potential
limitations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2000, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF 00-14, “Accounting for Certain Sales
Incentives,” which provides guidance on accounting for discounts, coupons, rebates and free products, as
well as the income statement classification of these discounts, coupons, rebates and free products. EITF
00-14 was effective for us on April 1, 2001. The adoption of the consensus resulted in the reclassification
of certain sales incentives as a reduction of subscriber revenues. All prior period results reflect such
reclassification. Prior to April 1, 2001, such incentives were recorded entirely as reductions to equipment
revenue. The adoption of this consensus had no impact on total revenues or on net loss.

On July 20, 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 141, “Business Combinations” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets”. We are required to adopt these pronouncements beginning January 1, 2002.
SFAS No. 141 requires all business combinations initiated after September 30, 2001 to be accounted for
using the purchase method of accounting. The impact of adopting SFAS No. 141 is not expected to be
significant. SFAS No. 142 changes the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets. Goodwill will
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no longer be subject to amortization over its estimated useful life. Rather, goodwill will be subject to at
least an annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair-value-based test. All other acquired
intangibles should be separately recognized if the benefit of the intangible asset is obtained through
contractual or other legal rights, or if the intangible asset can be sold, transferred, licensed, or exchanged,
regardless of the acquirer’s intent to do so. Other intangibles will be amortized over their useful lives. We
will apply the new rules on accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets beginning in the first
quarter of 2002. Had we adopted the non-amortization provisions of the SFAS No. 142 during 2001 it
would have resulted in a decrease in the net loss of approximately $18.4 million ($0.34 per diluted share).
During the first half of 2002, we will perform the first of the required impairment tests of goodwill and
indefinite lived intangible assets as of January 1, 2002. We do not expect the impact of adopting the fair
value based impairment test to have a significant impact on our financial condition or results of
operations.

"'On August 1, 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting For Impairment of Long Lived
Assets”. We are required to adopt this pronouncement beginning January 1, 2002. SFAS No. 144
prescribes the accounting for long-lived assets (excluding goodwill) to be disposed of by sale. SFAS
No. 144 retains the requirement of SFAS No. 121 to measure long-lived asset classified as held for sale at
the lower of its carrying value or fair market value less the cost to sell. Therefore, discontinued operations
are no longer measured on a net realizable basis, and future operating results are no longer recognized
before they occur. The impact of adopting SFAS No. 144 is not expected to be significant.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We believe that we have limited exposure to financial market risks, including changes in interest
rates. At December 31, 2001, all of our available excess funds are cash or cash equivalents. The value of
our cash and cash equivalents is not materially affected by changes in interest rates. A hypothetical change
in interest rates of 1.0% would result in an annual change in net loss of approximately $0.4 million based
on cash and cash equivalent balances at December 31, 2001. We currently hold no derivative instruments
and do not earn foreign-source income.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

The financial statements and the notes thereto which contain supplementary data required to be filed
pursuant to this Item 8 are appended to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. A list of the financial
statements filed herewith is found at “Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on
Form 8-K”.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

Not applicable.
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PART HEE

ITEM 18. DIRECTORS ARD EXECUTIVE OFFICERS.

All information relating to our directors, nominees for election as directors and executive officers
may be found under the headings “Election of Directors”, “Executive Officers” and “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Reporting Compliance” in our definitive proxy statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference to such proxy statement.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The discussion under the heading “Executive Compensation” in our definitive proxy statement for
the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference to such proxy statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT.

The discussion under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Manage-
ment” in our definitive proxy statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated
herein by reference to such proxy statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

The discussion under the heading “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in our definitive
proxy statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference to such
proxy statement.

PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON
FORM 8-K.

{(a){1) Consolidated Financial Statements.

Reference is made to the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement
Schedule on Page F-1.

(2)  Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule.

Reference is made to the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement
Schedule on Page F-1.

All other schedules have been omitted because the required information is not present or is not
present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information
required is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

(3)  Exhibits.
Reference is made to the Exhibit Index on Page 50.
(b) Reports on Form 8-K.
Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized this 12th day of April, 2002.

GOAMERICA, INC.

By: /s/ Aaron Dobrinsky

Aaron Dobrinsky,
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates

indicated.
Signature Title Date
/s/ Aaron Dobrinsky Chairman of the Board and April 12, 2002
Aaron Dobrinsky Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer)
/s/ Francis J. Elenio Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and April 12, 2002
Francis J. Elenio Secretary (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)
/s/ Joseph Korb President and Director April 12, 2002
Joseph Korb
/s/ Robi Blumenstein Director April 12, 2002
Robi Blumenstein
Director
Adam Dell
s/ Alan Docter Director April 12, 2002
Alan Docter
/s/ Mark Kristoff Director April 12, 2002
Mark Kristoff
/s/ Brian D. Bailey Director April 12, 2002

Brian D. Bailey
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EXHIBIT INDEX**

Deseription of Exhibit

Merger Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of June 13, 2000, by and among
GoAmerica, Inc., GoAmerica Acquisition I Corp., Wynd Communications Corporation
and, as to certain sections, the existing shareholders of Wynd Communications Corporation.

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 11, 2000, by and among GoAmerica,
Inc., GoAmerica Acquisition II Corp. and Hotpaper.com, Inc.

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2000, by and among GoAmerica, Inc.,
GoAmerica Communications Corp., Flash Creative Management, Inc. and the shareholders
of Flash Creative Management, Inc. listed on Annex I thereto.

Merger Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of November 13, 2001, by and
among GoAmerica; Inc., GoAmerica Acquisition III Corp., OutBack Resource Group, Inc.
and certain shareholders thereof.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as filed with the Secretary of State of
the State of Delaware on May 8, 2000.

By-laws.

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock of GoAmerica, Inc. issued to Research In Motion
Limited by GoAmerica, Inc. on August 31, 2000.

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock of GoAmerica, Inc. issued to Dell Ventures, L.P. by
GoAmerica, Inc. on November 14, 2000.

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock of GoAmerica, Inc. issued to Sony Electronics, Inc. by
GoAmerica, Inc. on January 1, 2001.

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock of GoAmerica, Inc. issued to former
shareholders of OutBack Resource Group, Inc. on November 13, 2001.

CDPD Value Added Reseller Agreement by and between GoAmerica and AT&T Wireless
Data, Inc., dated May 6, 1997, as amended.

AirBridge Packet Service Agreement by and between GoAmerica and Bell Atlantic
NYNEX Movbile, Inc. (now Verizon Wireless), dated May 13, 1997, as amended.

Value Added Reseller Agreement by and between GoAmerica and BellSouth Wireless
Data L.P. (now Cingular Interactive, L.P),dated August 31, 1999.

Reseller Agreement for Messaging Services by and between GoAmerica and ARDIS
Company, dated August 25, 1999.

Form of Invention Assignment and Non-Disclosure Agreement by and between GoAmerica
and its employees.

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between GoAmerica and each of its directors
and executive officers.

Employment Agreement by and between GoAmerica and Aaron Dobrinsky, dated as of
December 31, 1999.

Employment Agreement by and between GoAmerica and Joseph Korb, dated as of
December 31, 1999.

Employment Agreement by and between GoAmerica and Francis Elenio, dated as of
December 31, 1999.
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10.22(»

10.23(

10.24®1
10.25@1
10.26®1
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Description of Exhibit

Employment Agreement by and between GoAmerica and Jesse Odom, dated as of
December 31, 1999,

GoAmerica Communications Corp. 1999 Stock Option Plan.
GoAmerica, Inc. 1999 Stock Plan.
GoAnmerica, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Lease Agreement by and between GoAmerica and Continental Investors, L.P., dated
August 7, 1996, as amended.

Facilities Maintenance Agreement by and between GoAmerica and Data General, a
division of EMC Corporation, dated December 13, 1999.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 15, 1996, by and between GoAmerica
Communications Corp. and the Investors set forth therein.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 25, 1999, by and between GoAmerica
Communications Corp. and CIBC WMV Inc. and other investors.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated January 28, 2000, by and between GoAmerica, Inc.,
Dell USA L.P, Carousel Capital Partners, L.P., Forstmann Little & Co. Equity Partnership-
VI, L.P. and Impact Venture Partners, L.P.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 28, 2000, by and between GoAmerica, Inc. and
the existing shareholders of Wynd Communications Corporation. '

Registration Rights Agreement, dated August 31, 2000, by and between GoAmerica, Inc.
and the existing stockholders of Hotpaper.com, Inc.

Escrow Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2000, by and among GoAmerica, Inc., the existing
shareholders of Wynd Communications Corporation and American Stock Transfer & Trust
Company. :

Escrow Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2000, by and among GoAmerica, Inc., the
existing stockholders of Hotpaper.com, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & Trust
Company.

Escrow Agreement, dated as of November 7, 2000, by and among GoAmerica, Inc., Flash
Creative Management, Inc., the shareholders of Flash Creative Management, Inc. listed on
Schedule A thereto and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

Strategic Alliance Marketing Agreement by and between GoAmerica, Inc. and Research in
Motion Limited, dated July 1, 2000.

Service Agreement by and between GoAmerica Communications Corp. and Rogers
Wireless, Inc., dated July 26, 2000.

Channel Partner Agreement by and between GoAmerica and Metricom, Inc., dated
September 1, 2000,

Amendment to the September 1, 2000 Channel Partner Agreement by and between
GoAmerica and Metricom, Inc., dated September 1, 2000.

Supply Agreement by and between GoAmerica and Sierra Wireless Data, Inc., dated
November 28, 2000.

Amending Agreement to the November 28, 2000 Supply Agreement by and between
GoAmerica and Sierra Wireless Data, Inc., dated December 29, 2000.
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10.35@7
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10.39®

10.40®
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10.43®

10.44M1

10.45M7F

10.4697

10.479@

Description of Exhibit

Service Agreement by and between GoAmerica and Personal Network Solutions Company,
a division of Sony Electronics Inc., dated October 1, 2000.

Letter Amendment to the May 6, 1997 CDPD Value Added Reseller Agreement by and
between GoAmerica and AT&T Wireless Data, Inc., dated January 31, 2001.

Amendment No. 1 to the May 13, 1997 Airbridge Packet Service Agreement by and

between GoAmerica and Bell Atlantic Mobile (now Verizon Wireless), dated January 7,
2000.

Amendment No. 2 to the May 13, 1997 Airbridge Packet Service Agreement by and
between GoAmerica and Bell Atlantic Mobile (now Verizon Wireless), dated March 6,
2000.

Amendment No. 3 to the May 13, 1997 Airbridge Packet Service Agreement by and
between GoAmerica and Bell Atlantic Mobile (now Verizon Wireless), dated February 13,
2001.

Amendment No. 1 to the August 31, 1999 Value Added Reseller Agreement by and
between GoAmerica and BellSouth Wireless Data L.P. (now Cingular Interactive, L.B),
dated March 9, 2000.

Amendment No. 2 to the August 31, 1999 Value Added Reseller Agreement by and
between GoAmerica and BeliSouth Wireless Data L.P. (now Cingular Interactive, L.P),
dated March 21, 2000.

Employment Agreement by and between GoAmerica and David Blumenthal, dated as of
November 1, 2000.

Employment Agreement by and between GoAmerica and Yair Alan Griver, dated as of
November 1, 2000.

Third Amendment to the August 7, 1996 Lease Agreement by and between GoAmerica
and Continental Investors, L.P,, dated December 1, 1999.

Fifth Amendment to the August 7, 1996 Lease Agreement by and between GoAmerica and
Continental Investors, L.P, dated August 22, 2000, and entered into by and between
GoAmerica and Stellar Continental LLC, the successor landlord.

Amendment to the December 13, 1999 Facilities Maintenance Agreement by and between
GoAmerica and Data General, a division of EMC Corporation, dated March 14, 2001.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 14, 2000, by and between GoAmerica,
Inc. and Dell Ventures, L.P.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated January 1, 2001, by and between GoAmerica, Inc.
and Sony Electronics, Inc.

Service Provider Agreement by and between GoAmerica, Inc. and Research In Motion
Limited, effective May 1, 2000.

Amendment to the Service Provider Agreement, effective May 1, 2000, by and between
GoAmerica, Inc. and Research In Motion Limited, dated August 31, 2000.

Amendment to Supply Agreement by and between GoAmerica and Sierra Wireless Data,
Inc., dated June 29, 2001.

Employment Agreement by and between GoAmerica, Inc. and Daniel R. Luis, dated as of
July 1, 2001.
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Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit

104897 Termination Agreement and Mutual Releases, by and between GoAmerica, Telecordia

Technologies, Inc., Geoworks Corporation and others, dated October 9, 2001.

10499 Escrow Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2001, by and among GoAmerica, Inc., the

shareholders of QutBack Resource Group, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & Trust
Company.

2117 List of subsidiaries of GoAmerica, Inc.

23.17 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

(a)
(b)
(©)

(d)

Confidential treatment has been requested and granted (subject to applicable renewals) for a
portion of this Exhibit. Confidential materials have been omitted and filed separately with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

Incorporated by reference to GoAmerica’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File Number 000-29359)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 13, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to GoAmerica’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File Number 000-29359)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 15, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to GoAmerica’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File Number 000-29359)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 21, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to GoAmerica’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File Number
000-29359 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to GoAmerica’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File Number
000-29359) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to GoAmerica’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number
333-94801) which became effective on April 6, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to GoAmerica’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File Number 000-29359)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to GoAmerica’s Quarterly Report on Form-10-Q (File Number
000-29359) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 11, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to GoAmerica’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File Number
000-29359) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2001.

Filed herewith.

Certain schedules and exhibits to the documents listed in this index are not being filed herewith or
have not been previously filed because we believe that the information contained therein is not
material. Upon request therefor, we agree to furnish supplementally a copy of any schedule or
exhibit to the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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All other schedules have been omitted because the required information is not present or is not present
in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
GoAmerica, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of GoAmerica, Inc. as of Decem-
ber 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit)
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. Cur audits also
included the financial statement schedule as listed in the index at Item 14(a). These financial statements
and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of GoAmerica, Inc. as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the
related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken
as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 26, 2002
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GOAMERICA, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,
2001 2080
ASSETS
Current assets:.

Cash and cash equivalents .......... ... ..ot nnn $ 34,977 $114,411
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,675

in 2001 and $388 101 2000. . ..o ot e 8,672 5,017
Merchandise inventories, net. ...ttt 7,967 14,021
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ................ovun 2,373 5,802

Total CUITENT ASSELS « . vttt it ittt ite e it neans 53,989 139,251
Restricted Cash. .. .ot i i i i e e e 1,396 738
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net............. 14,158 6,902
Trade names, net of accumulated amortization of $3,282 in 2001

and $1,101in 2000 . ... oo e e 1,290 9,798
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $4,595

in 2001 and $1,421 in 2000, respectively. ....................... 1,660 10,180
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization of $17,485 in 2001 and

E $4.691 1IN 2000 . ... ottt 14,593 40,103
‘ O ReT ASSELS. o v v vttt e it e e e e 699 774
TOtal ASSES . . vttt $ 87,785 $207,746

LIARILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND
‘ STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY
- Current liabilities:

Accounts payable. . ... e $ 9,676 $ 9935
ACCTUE EXDEMSES. « « v e ottt ettt et e e 7,565 13,089
Deferred 1eVENUE. . oo v vttt et e e e 2,805 2,182
Other current liabilities. ... ... ..o iii i i e 651 515
Total current liabilities ..., 20,697 25,721
Other long term liabilities ......... ...t 675 495

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; authorized:
4,351,943 in 2001 and 2000; issued and outstanding: none in 2001
and 2000, respectively .. ..ot — —

Common stock, $.01 par value; authorized:
200,000,000 in 2001 and 2000; issued and outstanding: 53,709, 803

s in 2001 and 53,128,715 in 2000, respectively ............... ... .. 537 531
] Additional paid-in capital........... ... oo i 269,053 268,849
] Deferred employee compensation. .. .........coeeeeiiiiieenanann (2,842) (7,786)
Accumulated deficit. . ... e e (200,335 (80,064)
B Total stockholders’ equity ......... ... eenn. 66,413 181,530
‘ Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and

stockholders” equity. ... ... ..ot e $ 87,785 $207,746

See accompanying notes.
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GOAMERICA, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1%
Revenues:
Subscriber. ... $ 28308 $ 8,535 $ 1,104
Equipment ....... ... ... .. oo 10,088 5,097 1,420
Other......cooiiiiii i i 618 242 207
39,014 13,874 2,731
Costs and expenses:
Cost of subscriber revenue.................. 22,578 7,194 4,051
Cost of equipment revenue ................. 20,665 6,090 1,648
Cost of network operations................. 3,264 623 375
Sales and marketing ....................... 24,700 35,807 3,283
General and administrative ................. 40,685 26,853 3,970
Research and development ................. 4,174 762 465
Depreciation and amortization .............. 2,987 994 275
Amortization of goodwill and other
intangibles. . ........ .. oo oot 18,398 7,247 —
Impairment of long-lived assets ............. 25,511 — —
Settlement coStS. ... — — 297
162,962 85,570 14,364
Loss from operations ...........c.covviieenn (123,948) (71,696) (11,633)
Interest income, net .......... ... 3,099 6,944 165
Net loss before benefit from income taxes...... $ (120,849) $ (64,752) $ (11,468)
Income tax benefit. ........................ 578 — —
Net 0SS . oo vttt e i $ (120,271) $ (64,752) $ (11,468)
Beneficial conversion feature and accretion of
redemption value of mandatorily redeemable
convertible preferred stock ................. — (30,547) (10,463)
Net loss applicable to common stockholders . . . . $ (120,271) $  (95299) $  (21,931)
Basic net loss per share applicable to common ‘
stockholders .........cooiiuiinnn... $ (2.27) $ (2.19) $ (1.02)
Diluted net loss per share applicable to common
stockholders .............. ... ... .. $ (2.25) $ (2.18) $ (1.00)

Weighted average shares used in computation of

basic net loss per share applicable to common
stockholders .............................. 53,027,209 43,426,493 21,590,259

Weighted average shares used in computation of
diluted net loss per share applicable to
common stockholders...................... 53,353,958 43,677,912 22,025,283

See accompanying notes.
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GOAMERICA, INC,
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(Im thousands, except share data)

1ok Total stock-
Commen Stoc Additional Deferred holders’
Number paid-in employee Accumulated equity/
of shares Amount capital compensation deficit (deficit)
Balance at December 31, 1998. . ... ... .. 21,327,776 $213 $ 5855 $ — $ (3,844) $ 2,224
Sale of common stock . . ............ 1,875,416 19 1,999 — — 2,018
Issuance of common stock upon exercise
ofwarrants . .. ........... ... ... 483,992 5 “) — — 1

Non-cash capital contribution by

principal shareholders in connection

with settlement agreements. . ....... — — 149 — — 149
Issuance of warrants to purchase

common stock in connection with

] settlement agreements . ... ........ — — 149 — — 149
Deferred employee compensation. . . . .. — — 7,799 (7,799) — —

Amortization of deferred employee
compensation . ................. — — — 732 — 732

Beneficial conversion feature and
accretion of redemption value of
redeemable convertible preferred

StOCK o —_ — (10,463) — — (10,463)
Netloss........ocovivn. — — — — (11,468) (11,468)
Balance at December 31, 1999. ..... .. .. 23,687,184 237 5,484 (7,067) (15,312) (16,658)
Sale of common stock . . . ........... 10,000,000 100 146,119 — — 146,219

Issuance of common stock pursuant to:
exercise of employee stock options and

WaITants .. ..........oiuaan 318,252 3 3,261 (3,088) — 176
exercise of warrants . . .. .......... 219,865 3 2 — _ 5
compensation for financing . . . ... ... 243,266 2 3,647 — — 3,649
purchase of businesses . ... ........ 5,437,388 54 53,281 — — 53,335

Beneficial conversion feature and
accretion of redemption value of
redeemable convertible preferred
stock ... — — (30,547) — — (30,547)
Issuance of common stock upon . .
conversion of preferred stock .. ... .. 13,222,760 132 72,158 — — 72,290
Conversion of options of acquired : ‘ )
businesses. . ................ ... — — 4,657 (520) — 4,137
Deferred employee compensation . ... ... — — 8,456 (8,456) — —
Amortization of deferred employee . )
compensation . ................. —_ — — 11,345 — 11,345
Issuance of warrant in exchange for '
marketing services . . . ... ... ... — — 2,331 — — 2,331
Netloss. ..., — = — — (64,752) (64.752)
Balance at December 33, 2000. . ... ... .. 53,128,715 531 268,849 (7,786) (80,064) 181,530
Issuance of common stock pursuant to: '
exercise of employee stock options . . . 369,642 4 267 — — 271
exercise of warrants . ............ 130,450 1 (1) — — —
purchase of businesses . .. ......... 134,996 1 147 — — 148
Purchase of treasury stock . .. ........ (54,000) — (49) — — (49)
Adjustment to deferred employee
compensation for terminations. . ... .. — — (973) 973 — —
Amortization of deferred employee
compensation . ................. — — — 3,971 — 3,971
] Issuance of warrant in exchange for
1 marketing services . . . ... ......... — — 813 — — 813
Netloss . o v vvii it e - = — — (120,271) (120,271)
Balance at December 31, 2001. .. ....... 53,709,803 $_53‘_7 $269,053 $(2,842) $(200,335) § 66,413

See accompanying notes.
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GOAMERICA, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999

Operating activities
Nt 0SS+ ottt ittt e $(120,271) $(64,752) $(11,468)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in

operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization. . ...................... 21,385 8,241 275
Impairment of long-lived assets . ...................... 25,511 — —
Increase in provision for losses on accounts receivable. . . 4,197 728 215
Non-cash employee compensation. .................... 3,971 11,345 732
Non-cash settlement costs . ..., — — 297
Deferred rent. . .......coviuiriieea i 64 102 139
Non-cash marketing expense .................ccou.... 2,086 1,058 —_
Other non-cash charges.............................. 254 256 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in accounts receivable ..................... (7,852) -(4,703) (558)
Decrease (increase) in inventory .................... 6,054 (13,345) (523)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other
ASSELS . Lt e e e 1,320 (6,400) (433)
{Decrease) increase in accounts payable ............. (259) 4,844 3,672
(Decrease) increase in accrued expenses and other
current liabilities. . ...... ... (5,582) 11,202 857
Increase in deferredincome . ....................... 623 2,118 50
Net cash used in operating activities................... (68,499) (49,306) (6,745)

Investing activities
Purchase of property, equipment and leasehold

IMPTOVEMENTS . o e vttt et et et eiae e e e encnneenn (9,159) (5,499) (387)
Purchase of patents .............. ..ot (1,000) — —
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired............ (127) (7,659) —
Other assets . . vttt ittt i i i e — (300) (256)
Net cash used in investing activities ..................... (10,286) (13,458) (643)
Financing activities
Issuance of common stock, net of related expenses........ 271 146,400 2,019
Issuance of preferred stock, net of related expenses ....... — 24,637 10,292
Purchase of treasury stock ......... ... ... (49) — —
Peferred financing costs ...... ... i i — — (511)
Payments made on capital lease obligations .............. (871) (206) (29)
Net cash (used) provided by financing activities........... (649) 170,831 11,771
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents.......... (79,434) 108,067 4,383
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ......... 114,411 6,344 1,961
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period............... $ 34,977 $114,411 $ 6,344
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Interest paid. .......vevini $ 169 $ 34 $ 5
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Acquisition of equipment through capital leases ........ 1,182 615 187

Issuance of common stock purchase warrants in

exchange for sales and marketing services............ 765 2,857 —




GOAMERICA, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(In theusands, except share and per share data)

Years ended December 31,

2601 2090 1999
Non-cash investing and financing activities (continued):
Purchase of businesses, net of cash acquired:
Working capital surplus {deficit), net of cash acquired . .. $ 40 $(2,886) —
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements. ... ... 1 822 —
GoodWill. . ..o e 152 44,794 —
Trade Mames. ..o vov vttt e — 10,900 —
Other intangibles .......... ... . it — 11,600 —
Other assets. .. .ovvite it e — 33 —
Non-current liabilities ...............ccooivii i, — (131) —
Common stock, options and warrants issued............ 148 57,472 —

See accompanying notes.

F-7




GOAMERICA, INC.
NQOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

1. Description of Business

GoAmerica, Inc. (the “Company”) offers wireless access to the Internet and corporate intranet
systems to customers located in the United States. The Company has formed strategic relationships with
wireless carriers, software providers, and hardware manufacturers who provide the mobile computer user
wireless communications, services and devices that complement the Company’s services. The Company
also distributes wireless communication devices, principally to customers of its wireless services.

The Company operates in a highly competitive environment subject to rapid technological change
and emergence of new technology. Although management believes its services are transferable to
emerging technologies, rapid changes in technology could have an adverse financial impact on the
Company.

The Company is highly dependent on third-party providers for wireless communication services.

The Company has incurred significant operating losses since its inception and as of December 31,
2001 has an accumulated deficit of $200,335. During 2001, the Company incurred a net loss of $120,271
and used $68,499 of cash to fund operating activities. As of December 31, 2001 the Company has $34,977
in cash and cash equivalents ($24,200 at March 31, 2002, unaudited), exclusive of $1,396 in restricted cash
supporting certain letters of credit. In order to reduce operating expenses, during 2001, the Company
reduced the number of its employees by outsourcing certain operating functions, modified certain of its
pricing strategies to recover the costs incurred for roaming, and, in certain instances, suspended service
to a limited number of subscribers contributing to excessive roaming costs. Management’s 2002 operating
plan includes further reductions in headcount as well as significant reductions in sales and marketing
expenditures and capital expenditures from the levels incurred during 2001. In the event Management is
unable to achieve its plans, additional further reductions may be required. The Company intends to raise
additional capital either through public or private equity or debt financing to primarily finance the
execution of the Company’s anticipated strategic initiatives. There can be no assurance that the Company
will achieve its 2002 operating plan or raise additional funds on acceptable terms.

On December 31, 1999, the stockholders of GoAmerica Communications Corp., the predecessor to
GoAmerica, Inc., exchanged all of the outstanding common and Series A Preferred shares of GoAmerica
Communications Corp. for the same number of shares of similar securities of GoAmerica, Inc., and as a
result, GoAmerica Communications Corp. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of GoAmerica, Inc. All
outstanding options and warrants of GoAmerica Communications Corp. were exchanged into similar
securities of GoAmerica, Inc. Prior to December 31, 1999, GoAmerica, Inc. had no operations, assets or
liabilities. This corporate reorganization was accounted for as an exchange of shares between entities
under common control and no changes were made to the historical cost basis of GoAmerica Communi-
cations Corp.’s net assets.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of GoAmerica, Inc. and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolida-
tion.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased. '
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. GOAMERICA, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
certain expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant
estimates that affect the financial statements include, but are not limited to: collectibility of accounts
receivable, amortization periods and recoverability of inventory and long-lived assets.

Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories, principally wireless devices, are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out)
basis or market. The inventory of the Company is subject to rapid technological changes which could have
an adverse impact on its realization in future periods. In addition, there are a limited number of suppliers
of the Company’s inventory. Inventories are recorded net of a reserve for excess and obsolete
merchandise.

Property, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided on the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets ranging from two to seven years.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

Computer Software Developed or Obtained For Internal Use

All direct internal and external costs incurred in connection with the application development stage
of software for internal use are capitalized. All other costs associated with internal use software are
expensed when incurred. Amounts capitalized are included in property, equipment and leasehold
improvements and are amortized on a straight-line basis over three years beginning when such assets are
placed in service.

Intangibles

Goodwill, trade names and other intangibles arise from acquisitions. Goodwill has been amortized
over periods principally ranging from 3 to 4 years, using a straight-line method. Trade names are
amortized over 5 years, using a straight-line method. Other intangibles, which include developed
technology, assembled work force and customer lists, have been amortized over periods principally
ranging from 3 to 4 years, using the straight-line method. Intangibles are periodically reviewed to assess
recoverability from future operations when events and circumstances indicate that the undiscounted cash
flows estimated to be generated by these assets is less than the carrying amounts of those assets. To the
extent carrying values exceed fair values, an impairment loss is recognized in operating results.

Revenue and Deferred Revenue

The Company derives subscriber revenue from the provision of wireless communication services.
Subscriber revenue consists of monthly charges for access and usage and is recognized as the service is
provided. Roaming fees billed to customers are recognized upon collection. Also included in subscriber
revenue are one-time non-refundable activation fees. To the extent such fees exceed the related costs,
they are deferred and recognized ratably over the life of the related service contracts generally six months
or twelve months. Equipment revenue is recognized upon shipment and transfer of title to the end user.
The Company provides mobile devices to its customers at prices below its costs as incentives for
customers to enter into service agreements. Such incentives are recorded as a reduction to subscriber and
equipment revenue, at the time of sale, allocated based upon the relative fair value of the equipment and
services provided as determined by their list selling prices. Sales into retail channels, where a right of
return exists, are deferred and recognized at the time such equipment is sold to the end consumer.
Consulting revenue, included in other revenue, is recognized as the related services are provided.

F-9




GOAMERICA, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Cost of Revenues

Cost of subscriber revenue consists principally of airtime costs charged by carriers. Cost of equipment
revenue consists of the cost of equipment sold.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using the liability method. Under this method, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of
assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. During 2001, 2000 and 1999, advertising expense was
approximately $4,900, $19,500 and $1,100, respectively.

Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.
Stock-Based Employee Compensation

The Company accounts for employee stock-based compensation in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, “ Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, using an intrinsic
value approach to measure compensation expense, if any. Appropriate disclosures using a fair value based
method, as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), are also reflected in the accompanying notes to the financial
statements. Options issued to non-employees are accounted for in accordance with SFAS 123 and
Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are
Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods and Services”,
using a fair value approach.

Net Loss Available for Common Stockholders

Net loss available for common stockholders represents net loss increased by accretion of the
redeemable preferred stock to redemption value and an amount representing beneficial conversion
features on preferred stock.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist
of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The Company maintains a.significant portion of its
cash and cash equivalents with two financial institutions. The Company performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers but generally does not require collateral.

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the
inability of its customers to make required payments. If the financial condition of the Company’s
customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
allowances may be required.

The Company estimates the amount of allowance for doubtful accounts required to reduce accounts
receivable to expected net realizable value by reviewing the status of significant past-due receivables and
analyzing historical bad debt trends.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, which include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair values.
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Segment Information

In June 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 131,
“Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” which establishes standards for
the way that a public enterprise reports information about operating segments in annual financial
statements and requires that those enterprises report selected information about operating segments in
interim financial reports issued to shareholders. It also establishes standards for related disclosures about
products and services, geographic areas and major customers. The Company operates in a single segment.
The chief operating decision maker allocates resources and assesses the performance associated with
wireless services, and related equipment sales on a single segment basis. Consulting services are not a
material component of the Company’s business. )

Reclassifications

The Company has reclassified certain prior year information to conform with current year
presentation. Effective January 1, 2001, the Company began reporting cost of network operations as a
separate cost component in the statements of operations. Costs included are facility lease and related
employee salaries and benefits. Previously, these costs were reported as a component of general and
administrative expenses. All prior period results reflect such reclassification.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2000, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF 00-14, “Accounting for Certain Sales
Incentives,” which provides guidance on accounting for discounts, coupons, rebates and free products, as
well as the income statement classification of these discounts, coupons, rebates and free products. EITF
00-14 was effective for the Company on April 1, 2001. The adoption of the consensus resulted in the
reclassification of certain sales incentives as a reduction of subscriber revenues. All prior period results
reflect such reclassification. Prior to April 1, 2001, such incentives were recorded entirely as reductions to
equipment revenue. The adoption of this consensus had no impact on total revenues or on net loss.

On July 20, 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 141, “Business Combinations” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets”. The Company is required to adopt these pronouncements beginning January 1,
2002. SFAS No. 141 requires all business combinations initiated after September 30, 2001 to be accounted
for using the purchase method of accounting. The impact of adopting SFAS No. 141 is not expected to be
significant. SFAS No. 142 changes the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets. Goodwill will
no longer be subject to amortization over its estimated useful life. Rather, goodwill will be subject to at
least an annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair-value-based test. All other acquired
intangibles should be separately recognized if the benefit of the intangible asset is obtained through
contractual or other legal rights, or if the intangible asset can be sold, transferred, licensed, or exchanged,
regardless of the acquirer’s intent to do so. Other intangibles will be amortized over their useful lives. The
Company will apply the new rules on accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets beginning in the
first quarter of 2002. Had the Company adopted during 2001 the non-amortization provisions of the SFAS
No. 142 it would have resulted in a decrease in the net loss of approximately $18,400 ($0.34 per diluted
share). During the first half of 2002, the Company will perform the first of the required impairment tests
of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets as of January 1, 2002. The Company does not expect the
impact of adopting the fair value based impairment test to have a significant impact on the Company’s
financial condition or results of operations.

On August 1, 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting For Impairment of Long Lived
Assets”. The Company is required to adopt this pronouncement beginning January 1, 2002. SFAS No. 144
prescribes the accounting for long-lived assets (excluding goodwill) to be disposed of by sale. SFAS No.
144 retains the requirement of SFAS No. 121 to measure long-lived asset classified as held for sale at the
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lower of its carrying value or fair market value less the cost to sell. Therefore, discontinued operations are
no longer measured on a net realizable basis, and future operating results are no longer recognized before
they occur. The impact of adopting SFAS No. 144 is not expected to be significant.

3. Acquisitions
2001 Acquisition:

On November 13, 2001, the Company acquired OutBack Resource Group, Inc., a software
development company. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, and
accordingly, the purchase price has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
upon estimates of fair market values at the date of acquisition. The total purchase price of approximately
$148 included the issuance of 134,996 shares of common stock valued at $0.96 per share and warrants
issued at the date of acquisition with an estimated fair market value of approximately $19 to purchase an
aggregate of 67,500 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $3.00 per share which
may be exercised immediately and expire three years from the date thereof.

2000 Acquisitions:

The Company acquired three companies during 2000. Payment of the aggregate purchase price for
these acquisitions of approximately $65,700 consisted of (i) 5,437,388 shares of the Company’s common
stock at a weighted-average value of $9.81 per share (based on the average closing prices of the common
stock on the date of announcement of each acquisition); (ii) $7,659 in cash (net of cash acquired of $484)
including merger related costs and $2,000 held in escrow; (iii) the conversion of options to purchase
559,373 shares of common stock the vested portion of which were valued at approximately $4,100 as of
the date of acquisition. These acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting,
and accordingly, the purchase price has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
upon estimates of fair market values at the dates of acquisition. The results of operations of the acquired
businesses are included in the consolidated results of operations of the Company from their respective
dates of acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the acquired net assets
aggregating approximately $44,800 has been recorded as goodwill and is being amortized on a straight-line
basis over useful lives ranging from three to four years. The 2000 acquisitions are further described below.

On June 28, 2000, the Company acquired Wynd Communications Corporation (“Wynd”), a provider
of wireless telecommunications services for the hearing impaired. The total purchase price of approxi-
mately $44,000 included the issuance of 3,964,975 shares of common stock valued at approximately
$39,500 ($9.96 per share) and the payment of approximately $469 in merger related costs. Under the terms
of the merger agreement, 396,498 shares of the common stock issued were held in escrow for a period of
one year from the acquisition date. In addition, outstanding options to acquire Wynd shares were
converted into options to purchase, at a weighted average exercise price of $1.61 per share, 477,722 shares
of the Company’s common stock. Options vested at the date of acquisition with an estimated fair market
value of approximately $4,000 were included in the determination of the total purchase price. Based upon
an independent valuation report, the Company has recorded identified intangible assets including trade
names, developed technology, assembled work force and customer lists aggregating approximately
$19,500. The cost of the acquisition exceeded the fair value of the acquired net assets by approximately
$25,800 which has been recorded as goodwill and is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 4 years.

On August 31, 2000, the Company acquired Hotpaper.com, Inc. (“Hotpaper”), a provider of
Web-based document automation software, infrastructure and content. The total purchase price of
approximately $10,100 included the issuance of 1,006,111 shares of common stock, valued at approxi-
mately $8,800 ($8.75 per share), cash consideration of $750 and approximately $356 in merger related
costs. Under the terms of the merger agreement, 100,612 shares of the common stock issued were held in
escrow for a period of one year from the acquisition date. In addition, outstanding options to acquire
Hotpaper shares were converted into options to purchase, at a weighted average exercise price of $0.59
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per share, 81,651 shares of the Company’s common stock. Options vested at the date of acquisition with
an estimated fair market value of approximately $147 were included in the determination of the total
purchase price. Based upon an independent valuation report, the Company recorded identified intangible
assets including developed technology and assembled work force aggregating approximately $3,000. The
cost of the acquisition exceeded the fair value of the acquired net assets by approximately $7,000 which
has been recorded as goodwill and is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 3 years.

On November 7, 2000, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of Flash
Creative Management, Inc. (“Flash”), a provider of consulting services to business customers in the areas
of business improvement, strategy and redesign and in software development and integration. The total
purchase price of approximately $11,600 included the issuance of 466,302 shares of common stock valued
at $5,000 ($10.81 per share), cash consideration of $6,000 and approximately $568 in merger related costs.
Under the terms of the purchase agreement, payment of $2,000 of the cash consideration was deferred for
a period of one year from the acquisition date and 69,945 shares of the common stock issued were held
in escrow for a period of one year from the acquisition date. The cost of the acquisition exceeded the fair
market value of the acquired net assets by approximately $11,100 which has been recorded as goodwill
and is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 3 years.

The following unaudited pro forma summary presents the combined results of operations as if the
2000 acquisitions described above had occurred as of January 1, 2000, and does not purport to be
indicative of the results that would have occurred had the transactions been completed as of that date or
of results that may occur in the future. The QutBack acquisition has been excluded as the pro forma
impact of such acquisition was not significant.

Year ended
December 31,
- __ 000

A L B (A=) 111 =) SR $ 18,637
Net loss applicable to common stockholders................... (111,463)
Net loss per share-basic. ..., (2.39)
Net loss per share-diluted.............. ... ... . ..., (2.39)

4. Impairment of Long-lived Assets

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company identified indicators of possible impairment of its
long-lived assets, principally goodwill and other acquired intangible assets recorded upon the acquisitions
of Wynd, Hotpaper and Flash. Such indicators included the continued deterioration in the business
climate for wireless Internet service providers, significant declines in the market values of the Company’s
competitors in the wireless Internet services industry, recent changes in the Company’s 2002 operating and
cash flow forecasts, and changes in our strategic plans for certain of our acquired businesses.

The Company performed asset impairment tests by acquired entity. The tests were performed by
comparing the expected undiscounted cash flows for each entity, to the carrying amount of its goodwill
and other intangible assets and long-lived assets. Based on the results of these tests, the Company
determined that goodwill and other intangible assets initially recorded in connection with these
acquisitions were impaired.

With the assistance of independent valuation experts, the Company determined the fair value of the
impaired long-lived assets for the respective acquired entities. Fair value was determined primarily using
the discounted cash flow method. A write-down of goodwill and intangible assets totaling $25,414 was
recorded during the fourth quarter of 2001, reflecting the amount by which the carrying amount of the
assets exceed their respective fair values. The write-down consisted of $12,991 for goodwill and $12,423
for other acquired intangible assets. In addition, a write-down of property and equipment totaling $97 was
recorded during the fourth quarter of 2001. No write-downs of goodwill or other acquired intangible
assets were recorded during 2000 and 1999.
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5. Supplemental Balance Sheet Information
Merchandise inventories:

During 2001, the Company recorded a write-down of approximately $3,500 in order to reflect
inventory at the lower of cost or market. The write-down primarily relates to wireless modems supporting
laptop and older PALM OS based models for which sales were lower than expected and a charge for a
lower of cost to market adjustment related to other equipment which remained unsold. Additionally,
during 2001 the Company recorded reserves for excess inventory quantities of approximately $4,600. As
of December 31, 2001, the Company has remaining reserves for excess inventory quantities of
approximately $4,740.

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements:

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements consists of the following:

December 31,
2001 2000

Furniture, fixtures and equipment............ P $ 2,882 $ 1,188
Computer equipment and software. . ............... ... ool 15,255 6,978
Leasehold improvements . ...ttt 421 149
: 18,558 8,315

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization.................... (4,400) (1,413)
| 314,158 $ 6902

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company leased equipment, furniture and fixtures with a cost
basis of $2,169 and $987, respectively, which is included in property, equipment and leasehold
improvements. Accumulated amortization on leased equipment was $488 and $90 at December 31, 2001
and 2000, respectively.

Accrued expenses:

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

December 31,

200 2000
Carrier SErviCes. ... .ovvvreer e, e $1,313 $ 2,925
Inventory purchases. ...ttt v 31 2,885
Employee compensation. . ......ooouiiiii i 1,558 2,086
Deferred purchase price — Flash.......... ... ... oot — 2,000
Marketing €XPenses . . . ... ovverne ettt et _ 592 1,844
Professional fees. ........................ e 1,680 840
Equipment and leasehold improvement purchases .................. 1,775 101
Dealer cOmmISSIONS. . . ..o vvttt it 221 —
Other ... e ' 395 408

$7,565 $13,089

6. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases office facilities under operating leases which expire at various dates through
2010. The Company has the option to renew certain leases for an additional five year period.
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The Company is obligated under capital leases for computer and office equipment that expire at
various dates through December 2005 with interest ranging from 9.85% to 14.9%. Future minimum capital
lease payments and future minimum lease payments relating to office space under noncancelable
operating leases as of December 31, 2001 are as follows:

Capital

Year ended December 31, Leases Operating Leases
2002 e e $ 743 $ 2,736
2003 e e 383 1,986
2004 e 44 1,582
2005 e 2 1,446
2006 o e — 1,402
Thereafter . ... e e e — 3,670
Total minimum lease payments...............oiiiiiiiniinanns 1,172 $12,822
Less amount representing interest ................. oo (169)

Present value of net minimum capital lease payments ............... 1,003

Less current portion of capital lease obligations .................... (651)

Obligations under capital lease, net of current portion............... $ 352

During 2001, 2000 and 1999 total rent expense was approximately $3,730, $1,992 and $287,
respectively.

At December 31, 2001, standby letters of credit totaling approximately $781 were outstanding as
security deposits on certain facility leases. Such letters of credit expire on various dates through
December 2002, As of December 31, 2001, $815 of cash held in the Company’s bank accounts is restricted
to secure these letters of credit. In addition, at December 31, 2001, the Company had a $581 in reserve
accounts as it relates to its credit card processor.

At December 31, 2001, the Company had commitments to purchase $1,500 of inventory.

During 2001 and 2000, the Company entered into employment agreements with certain of its key
executives which provide for fixed compensation and bonuses based upon the Company’s operating
results, as defined. These agreements generally continue until terminated by the employee or the
Company and, under certain circumstances, provide for salary continuance for a specified period. The
Company’s maximum aggregate liability under the agreements, if these employees were terminated by the
Company, is approximately $1,000 at December 31, 2001.

During 1999, the Company became a defendant in litigation involving its use of certain computer
software. On April 22, 1999, the Company entered into a settlement agreement under which it paid $170
during 1999 and 2000 to settle all claims. The Company recorded a charge to operating resuits as a result
of the settlement during 1999.

On October 9, 2001, the Company entered into a termination agreement with Geoworks Corpora-
tion, Telcordia Technologies, Inc. and David Rein under which it paid $1,750 which related to the
purchase of certain patent licenses from Geoworks, the settlement of all accrued royalties, and other costs
and fees associated with the early termination of the Settlement Agreement and Mutual Releases
between the parties. As a result, the Company recorded an intangible asset of $1,000 representing the
value of the patent licenses purchased with the balance charged to expense in 2001. The patent licenses
are being amortized over a period of one year.
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7. Benefit Plan

The Company has established a defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code which provides for voluntary employee contributions of up to 15 percent of compensation
for employees meeting certain eligibility requirements. The Company does not contribute to the plan.

8. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

On June 25, 1999, the Company sold 7,500 shares of Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred
Stock (“Series A Preferred Stock™) to various investors at a purchase price of $1,000 per share, the
estimated fair value at such date, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $7,335. On August 30, 1999,
the Company sold an additional 2,500 shares of Series A Preferred Stock to various investors at a
purchase price of $1,000 per share, the estimated fair value at such date, resulting in net proceeds of
approximately $2,457. During November 1999, the Company sold an additional 500 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock. The purchase price of such shares was $1,000 per share, resulting in net proceeds of $500.
The Company recorded an adjustment to net loss applicable to common stockholders of approximately
$500 relating to the beneficial conversion feature inherent in the November 1999 issuance. This amount
was determined based upon the excess of the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock into
which the Series A Preferred Stock was immediately convertible less the initial conversion price of $1.31
per share and in accordance with EITF No. 98-5, “Accounting for Convertible Securities with Beneficial
Conversion Features or Contingently Adjustable Conversion Ratios” limited to the amount of proceeds
received for the 500 shares of Series A Preferred Stock.

Each share of Series A Preferred Stock had a liquidation value of $1,000 per share and was
convertible into shares of common stock at an initial conversion price of $1.31 per share, subject to
adjustments, under certain circumstances. On December 9, 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors
adopted a resolution which provided for the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock into common
stock upon the consummation of the Company’s initial public offering. To the extent not previously
converted, upon the five year anniversary of the issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock, a stockholder
had the right to request the Company to redeem any or all shares of Series A Preferred Stock held at their
then fair market value, as defined.

The Series A Preferred Stock paid no dividends; however, such stockholders were entitled to
participate in the event dividends are paid to the holders of the Company’s common stock.

The holders of the Series A Preferred Stock voted together with all other classes of stock on all
actions taken by the stockholders of the Company as a single class. Each holder of Series A Preferred
Stock was entitled to that number of votes such holder would be entitled to if the holder had converted
the shares of Series A Preferred Stock into shares of common stock.

The holders of the Series A Preferred Stock had registration rights under an agreement dated
June 25, 1999 which provided for the registration of common stock held by such stockholders within the
periods specified by such agreements.

The holders of the Series A Preferred Stock had anti-dilution rights granted pursuant to an
agreement dated August 30, 1999 which allowed such stockholders to purchase additional securities of the
Company upon the issuance or sale of certain equity instruments, as defined.

In January 2000, the Company sold 648,057 shares of its Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred
Stock (“Series B Preferred Stock”) for aggregate net proceeds of approximately $24,637. Each share of
the Series B Preferred Stock had a liquidation value of $40.12 per share and was convertible at any time
at the option of the holder into eight shares of common stock, subject to adjustments, under certain
circumstances. The Series B Preferred Stock was subject to automatic conversion upon the completion by
the Company of a qualified initial public offering, as defined, of its common stock. To the extent not
converted, commencing August 30, 2004 a holder of Series B Preferred Stock had the right to require the
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Company to redeem any or all of the shares of Series B Preferred Stock held at their then fair market
value, as defined. The Series B Preferred Stock paid no dividends; however, such stockholders were
entitled to participate in the event dividends were paid on the Company’s common and preferred stock.
The Series B Preferred Stock had voting and registration rights similar to those of the Company’s Series
A Preferred Stock. In connection with the sale of the Series B Preferred Stock, the Company paid to its
financial advisors certain cash consideration and issued approximately 243,266 shares of its common stock.
Based on the beneficial conversion terms of the Series B Preferred Stock, assuming an initial public
offering price of $15.00 per share the Company recorded an adjustment to net loss applicable to common
stockholders for approximately $21,000 at the date of issuance as a beneficial conversion in accordance
with EITF 98-5.

9. Stockholders’ Equity

In connection with the sale of certain equity securities, the Company entered into agreements with
such stockholders which provided certain rights, including the right to purchase additional equity
securities to maintain their respective proportionate ownership in the event of subsequent equity
issuances by the Company and certain registration rights in the event the Company was to complete a
qualified initial public offering, as defined.

During 1998, in conjunction with the sale of certain shares of its common stock, the Company issued
to the purchasers warrants to purchase an aggregate of 891,792 additional shares of the Company’s
common stock. Exercise prices under the warrants range from $1.23 per share to $1.93 per share. The
warrants were exercisable at the date of issue and expire at various dates through January 2003. As of
December 31, 2001, 438,416 of these warrants remain outstanding.

In connection with certain equity financings during 1998, two of the Company’s principal sharehold-
ers issued to an existing investor in the Company, warrants to purchase 408,160 currently outstanding
shares of the Company’s common stock owned by the principal shareholders at an exercise price of $0.92
per share. Such warrants were exercisable at the date of grant and expire on February 6, 2003. As of
December 31, 2001, none of these warrants remain outstanding.

During May 1999, the Company issued to certain stockholders warrants to purchase 113,976 shares
of the Company’s common stock at a price of $0.00125 per share. These warrants were issued to settle the
Company’s obligations based upon claims by certain stockholders arising from the sale of certain common
stock. Also, as part of this settlement, two of the Company’s principal stockholders issued options to
purchase 113,848 currently outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock owned by the principal
stockholders at an exercise price of $0.00125 per share. As a result of these agreements and the related
warrant and option issuances by both the Company and the principal stockholders, the Company
recorded a non-cash charge of $297 during 1999 based on the estimated fair value of the warrants and
options on the date of issuance. Such fair value was determined to equal the fair value of the underlying
common stock. The options issued by the principal stockholders have been accounted for as a capital
contribution.

In connection with the issuance of certain shares of its common stock during 1998, the Company
agreed to issue additional shares in the event certain subscriber levels were not achieved. To satisfy its
obligation, in May 1999, the Company issued warrants to purchase 435,024 shares of its common stock at
a price of $0.00125 per share.

The warrants and options described in the two immediately preceding paragraphs were exercisable
at the date of grant and were exercised as of December 31, 2000.

During the fourth quarter of 1999, the Company sold an additional 1,871,008 shares of its common
stock to certain existing common stockholders in connection with the exercise of anti-dilution rights
granted to them upon their initial purchase of common stock. The net proceeds to the Company were
approximately $1,882.
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Cn April 12, 2000, the Company consummated an initial public offering of 10,000,000 shares of its
common stock at a price to the public of $16.00 per share, all of which shares were issued and sold by the
Company. Upon closing of the initial public offering, all issued and outstanding shares of Series A
Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock were converted to shares of common stock.

Cn August 31, 2000, the Company granted Research in Motion Limited, a supplier of wireless devices
and related software, a warrant to purchase 333,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at $16.00 per
share as partial consideration for certain obligations pursuant to certain marketing and strategic alliance
agreements. The warrant is exercisable one year after the date of grant and expires in three years. As of
December 31, 2000, the warrant had an estimated fair market value of approximately $526 of which
approximately $281 was recognized by the Company during 2000 as sales and marketing expense. During
2001, $233 was recognized by the Company as a reduction to sales and marketing expense, as a result of
the remeasurement of the fair value of this warrant. Such warrant remains outstanding as of December 31,
2001.

On November 14, 2000, the Company granted Dell Ventures, L.P, an affiliate of Dell Products, a
warrant to purchase 563,864 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $16.00 per share as
partial consideration for certain obligations pursuant to a product distribution agreement. This warrant
was immediately exercisable at the date of grant and expires in three years. The warrant had an estimated
fair market value at the date of grant of approximately $2,300 of which approximately $1,500 and $777 was
recognized by the Company during 2001 and 2000, respectively, as sales and marketing expense. Such
warrant remains outstanding as of December 31, 2001.

During January 2001, the Company entered into a service agreement with Sony Electronics Inc. with
an initial term of one year. In conjunction with the agreement, the Company issued a warrant to purchase
500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $16.00 per share. Such warrant was
exercisable at the date of grant and has a three year term. The agreement also requires the Company to
provide up to $3,500 of marketing funds. During 2001, the Company incurred a non-cash sales and
marketing charge of $765 as a result of the issuance. Such warrant remains outstanding as of December 31,
2001.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company had reserved shares of common stock for issuance as follows:

Exercise of common stock options. . ...t 11,998,357
Exercise of common stock purchase WAITANES - .« e eove e et ettt 1,902,780
Employee stock purchase plan.................... M 4,000,000

10. Stock Option Plans and Other Stock-Based Compemnsation

On August 3, 1999, the Company adopted the GoAmerica Communications Corp. 1999 Stock Option
Plan. This plan provided for the granting of awards to purchase shares of common stock. No further
options will be made under the GoAmerica Communications Corp. 1999 Stock Option Plan.

In December 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the GoAmerica, Inc. 1999 Stock Plan
(the “Plan”) as a successor plan to the GoAmerica Communications Corp. 1999 Stock Option Plan,
pursuant to which 4,800,000 additional shares of the Company’s common stock have been reserved for
issuance to selected employees, non-employee directors and consultants. In May 2001, the Company’s
shareholders approved an increase in the maximum number of shares issuable under the Plan from
4,800,000 to 10,624,743 shares.

Under the terms of the Plan, a committee of the Company’s Board of Directors may grant options
to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock to employees and consultants of the Company at such
prices as may be determined by the committee. The Plan provides for award grants in the form of
incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options. Options granted under the Plan generally vest
annually over 4 years and expire after 10 years.
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The following table summarizes activity on a combined basis for the plans during 2001 and 2000:

Weighted-
Number of Average
Options Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1, 1999........ ... ool — $ —
Granted . . ... e e 2,440,008 0.92
Cancelled. . ... v e e et e e — —
Qutstanding at December 31,1999 ... ... ... ... i i 2,440,008 0.92
Granted . . ..o e e e e 3,581,523 8.34
EXercised. ...ttt e e e (125,277) 1.41
i Cancelled. . ... e (150,700) 11.81
] QOutstanding at December 31,2000 ....... ... ... i 5,745,554 5.26
] Granted . . ... e 1,095,310 1.78
Exercised. ... ..o (369,642) 0.73
Cancelled. ... e (376,067) 8.51
Qutstanding at December 31,2001 .........ooo it 6,095,155 4.70
Exercisable at December 31, 2001 .. ... e 3,354,112 3.56
Exercisable at December 31,2000 .. ...t e 1,859,278 1.84
Exercisable at December 31,1999 . ... ... .. ... 856,000 0.95
Available for grant at December 31, 2001........... ... ... ... ... 5,903,202 _—

The following table summarizes information about fixed price stock options outstanding at
December 31, 2001: '

Qutstanding Exercisable
Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Weighted-
Ramnge of Number Average Contractual Number Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding Exercise Price _ Life Exercisable Exercise Price
$ 0.25 100,000 $ 0.25 7.6 years 46,667 $ 025
0.45— 0.56 1,007,476 0.56 7.0 years 790,248 0.56
0.71— 1.06 627,253 1.03 7.6 years 397,240 1.06
1.31— 1.96 773,943 1.36 8.5 years 318,130 1.32
2.03— 2.44 1,042,181 2.08 8.9 years 567,085 2.11
5.02— 7.50 1,578,200 6.04 8.4 years 942,883 5.44
7.97— 8.27 98,852 7.97 8.7 years 24,713 7.97
15.00—16.00 867,250 15.38 8.2 years 267,146 15.48

For certain options granted during 2000 and 1999, the Company has recorded pursuant to APB No.
25 approximately $8,457 and $7,799 of deferred compensation expense representing the difference
between the exercise price and the market value of the common stock on the date of grant. These amounts
are being amortized over the vesting period of each option and amounted to approximately $3,971, $8,258
and $732 during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

During 1996, the Company granted an employee a warrant to purchase up to 320,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock at $0.44 per share, an amount in excess of the estimated fair value at the date
of grant. During 2000, the warrant was exercised on a cashless basis in accordance with the terms of the
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original agreement resulting in the issuance of 192,975 shares of common stock. As a result, the Company
recorded a compensation charge of approximately $4,980 representing the difference between the
exercise price and the market value of the common stock as of the date of exercise.

The following table discloses, for the year ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, the number of
options granted and certain weighted-average information:

Year ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999

Number Fair Exercise Number Fair Exercise Number Fair Exercise
of Options Value Price of Options Value Price  of Options Value Price

Exercise price greater than

market price........... — % — § — 37,000 $ 2.97 $16.00 160,000 § — $2.24
Exercise price equals

market price........... 1,095,310 1.08 1.78 2,137,150 7.32 11.08 288,000 022 131
Exercise price less than

market price........... - - — 1,407,373 10.64 3.60 1,992,000 4.04 0.76

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by SFAS 123, and has
been determined as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value
method of SFAS 123. The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions for 2001, 2000 and 1999: weighted-
average risk-free interest rate of 5.86%, 6.20% and 6.11% respectively; expected volatility of 0.80; no
dividends; and a weighted-average expected life of the options of 4.0 years, 4.2 years and 3.0 years,
respectively. There were no options granted prior to August 1999.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense
over the options’ vesting period. The Company’s pro forma information follows:

Year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1939
Pro forma net loss applicable to common stockholders ......... $(125,846)  $(99,280)  $(2,044)
Pro forma loss per share — basic ................ooo i 2.37) (2.29) (1.02)
Pro forma loss per share — diluted ............. ... ... .. ... (2.36) 2.27) (1.00)

In December 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the Employee Stock Purchase Plan
effective upon the Company’s initial public offering of its common stock which was completed on
April 12, 2000. The Company initially reserved 4,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance under the
plan. There were no shares sold pursuant to the plan.
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11. Income Taxes
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2001 2000

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforward .......... ... $ 53,545 $ 27,752

Deferred compensation .............coiiiiiiiiiiiii 6,877 5,659

Reserves and accruals. .. ... oot e e 2,814 164

Amortization of Goodwill ... ... e 3,900 182

Other . . ot e e 2,614 1,481
Less valuation allowance ........... ... ..o, (68,887) (27,227)
Deferred tax assels ..o v ittt e e e 863 8,011
Deferred tax liabilities:

Intangible ASSelS. . .o\t vu 'ttt ettt e (863) (8,011)

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements ..................... — —
Net deferred taX @SSETS . v vttt it e et e e $ — $ —

A reconciliation setting forth the differences between the effective tax rate of the Company and the
U.S. statutory rate is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

oo 2000 1999

Statutory federal income tax (benefit) at 34%........ $(41,089) $(22,016) $(3.,855)

State income tax (benefit), net of federal benefit ... .. (3,752) (3,597) (680)
Non-deductible expenses, primarily impairment of

goodwill. .. ... 2,603 1,425 —

Increase in valuation allowance .................... 41,660 24,188 4,535

TOtaAl © vttt $ (578) $ - $  —

The current state tax benefit in 2001 of $578 is attributable to the Company’s sale of certain state net
operating loss carryforwards. ’

At December 31, 2001, the Company had a federal and state net operating loss (“NOL”)
carryforward of approximately $135,700 and $127,000, respectively. The federal NOL carryforwards
expire beginning in 2011 and state NOL’s beginning in 2003. The Tax Reform Act of 1986 enacted a
complex set of rules limiting the potential utilization of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards in
periods following a corporate “ownership change.” In general, for federal income tax purposes, an
ownership change is deemed to occur if the percentage of stock of a loss corporation owned (actually,
constructively and, in some cases, deemed) by one or more “5% shareholders” has increased by more than
50 percentage points over the lowest percentage of such stock owned during a three-year testing period.
During 1999, such a change in ownership occurred. As a result of the change, the Company’s ability to
utilize certain of its net operating loss carryforwards will be limited to approximately $1,400 of taxable
income, per year. In addition, the Company acquired additional net operating losses through its
acquisitions of Wynd and Hotpaper. The Company believes that an ownership change has occurred with
respect to these entities. The effect of an ownership change would be the imposition of an annual
limitation on the use of net operating loss carryforwards attributable to periods before the change. The
Company has not performed a detailed analysis to determine the amount of the potential limitations.
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12. Earnings (Loss) Per share

The Company computes net loss per share under the provisions of SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per
Share” (SFAS 128), and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 98 (SAB 98).

Under the provisions of SFAS 128 and SAB 98, basic and diluted net loss per share is computed by
dividing the net loss available to common stockholders for the period by the weighted-average number
of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. The calculation of diluted net loss per share
excludes potential common shares if the effect is antidilutive. Basic earnings per share is computed by
dividing income or loss applicable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the period. The weighted average number of shares utilized in arriving
at basic earnings per share reflect an adjustment for 326,749 and 245,356 common shares for the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, for shares held in escrow as a result of the 2001 and 2000
acquisitions. Diluted earnings per share is determined in the same manner as basic earnings per share
except that the number of shares is increased assuming exercise of dilutive stock options and warrants
using the treasury stock method. The weighted average number of shares utilized in arriving at diluted
earnings per share presented reflect adjustments for 6,063 and 435,024 common shares in each of the years
ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively, issuable pursuant to warrants which were previously
issued for nominal consideration. As the Company had a net loss, the impact of the assumed exercise of
the stock options, warrants and the assumed preferred stock conversion is anti-dilutive and as such, these
amounts (except for warrants as issued for nominal consideration) have been excluded from the
calculation of diluted earnings per share.

13. Subsequent Events

On February 15, 2002, Eagle Truck Lines Inc. (a/k/a AirEagle, Inc.) filed suit against the Company
in the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles seeking payment in an
amount not less than $590, plus damages, expenses, interest and costs of suit, based on the alleged failure
of the Company, as successor in interest to Flash Creative Management, Inc., to perform its obligations
pursuant to a written contract dated on or about July 2, 1999, by and between Flash and AirEagle.
AirEagle alleged that GoAmerica, Inc. assumed the rights and liabilities under such contract as a result
of its purchase of substantially all of the assets of Flash in November 2000. AirEagle further alleged that
it has completely performed its obligations under the contract and that the Company has failed to
complete its development services and deliver the software product contemplated by the contract and was
thus unjustly enriched. This matter is in its early stages and the Company intends to vigorously defend
such matter. There can be no assurance, however, that such matter will be decided in the Company’s favor.
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14, Quarterly Fimancial Data (Unaudited)

The table below summarizes the Company’s unaudited quarterly operating results for years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000.

Quarter Ended

2001 Mareh 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Net revenue and other income ................ $ 7,999 $ 9,770 $ 10,617 $ 10,628
Costof revenue ........ovviiivnvnnnenennnnn (5,394) (14,600) (11,179) (15,334)
Operating exXpenses. .. ...c.oveuirneeeeeeean (17,119) (19,624) (17,995) (14,821)
Depreciation and amortization expenses. .. ..... (5,097) (5,250) (5,361) (5,677)
Impairment of long-lived assets ............... — — — (25,511)
Interest income, net ........... ... ... ... .... 1,479 842 519 259
Net (loss) before benefit from income taxes. . ... — — = 578
Net (10SS). . vt $(18,132)  $(28,862) $(23,399) $(49,878)
Net (loss) applicable to common stockholders...  $(18,132)  $(28,862) $(23,399) $(49,878)
Net (loss) per common share:

—Basic......oo $ (034) §$ (0.59) $ (044) $ (094)

—Diluted. ... $ (0.34) $§ (0.54) $ (044) $ (0.94)
2000 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Net revenue and other income ................ $ 1,441 $ 2,055 $ 4,268 $ 6,110
Costofrevenue ..........oouiiineeeeeenann (1,973) (2,387) (3,812) (5,113)
Operating exXpenses. . ........ouuurrrrnreeen.. (11,506) (16,736) (17,832) (17,970)
Depreciation and amortization expenses. ....... (101) (222) (3,467) (4,451)
Interest income, net ..., 188 2,323 2,426 2,007
Net (I0SS). oot e $(11,951)  $(14,968) $(18,417) $(19,416)
Net (loss) applicable to common stockholders...  $(41,889)  $(15,576) $(18,417) $(19,416)
Net (loss) per common share:

— BaSIC. . e $ (175 § (0.34) $ (0.36) $ (0.37)

—Diluted. ... $ 175 $ (034 $ (0.36) $ (0.37)
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GOAMERICA, INC,
FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

Valuation and Quatifying Accounts and Reserves

Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999

Balance at Additions: Balance at
Beginning of  Charged to Costs End of
Period and Expenses Deductions Period
Year Ended December 31, 2001
Allowance for doubtful accounts ............ $388 $4,197 $1,9100  $2.675
Inventory Reserve.......................... 117 4,623 — 4,740
Sales allowances, discounts & returns ........ 245 2,480 1,347@ 1,378
Year Ended December 31, 2000
Allowance for doubtful accounts ............ $ 75 $ 728 $ 415 ¢ 388
Inventory Reserve...................... ... — 117 — 117
Sales allowances, discounts & returns ........ —_ 820 575@ 245
Year Ended December 31, 1999
Allowance for doubtful accounts ............ $ 20 $ 215 $ 1600 § 75

@ Uncollectible accounts written-off, net of recoveries.

@ Returns and discounts charged to reserve.
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List of Subsidiaries of GoAmerica, Inc.

GoAmerica, Inc, Subsidiaries

GoAmerica Communications Corp. (Delaware corporation)
433 Hackensack Avenue
Hackensack, New Jersey 07601

GoAmerica Marketing, Inc. (Delaware corporation)
433 Hackensack Avenue
Hackensack, New Jersey 07601

Wynd Communications Corporation (California corporation)
75 Higuera Street, Suite 240
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

Hotpaper.com, Inc. (Delaware corporation)
33 New Montgomery Street, Suite 1040
San Francisco, California 94105

QOutBack Resource Group, Inc. (California corporation)
3450 Broad Street, Suite 103
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

Exhibit 21.1




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-47736)
pertaining to the GoAmerica Communications Corp. 1999 Stock Option Plan, the GoAmerica, Inc. 1999
Stock Plan and the GoAmerica, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan of our report dated March 26, 2002,
with respect to the financial statements and schedule of GoAmerica, Inc. included in the Annual Report
(Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2001.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

MetroPark, New Jersey
April 12, 2002
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Annual Meeting

The 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
will be held at:

55 Broad Street

New York, NY

on May 15, 2002 at 10:00 am

Company Headquarters
GoAmerica, Inc.

433 Hackensack Avenue
Hackensack, NJ 07601
(201) 996-1717

Stockhoider Information and 10-K

The Company’s 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001 and other financial data will
be provided upon written request to:

Brett Feldman, Director of Investor Relations
GoAmerica, Inc.

433 Hackensack Avenue

Hackensack, NJ 07601

Stockholders of Record
As of March 22, 2002, the number of stockholders of
record of the Company’s common stock was 299

Common Stock Listed
NASDAQ National Market®, under the symbol “GOAM”

Independent Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
MetroPark, NJ
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Hale and Dorr LLP
Princeton, NJ

Registrar and Transfer Agent
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
New York, NY

- Internet - Accounts - Sales -~ Intranet - Applications - Data
s - Data - lontacts - Internet - Accounts -~ Sales - Intranet -
ounts -~ Sales ~ Intranet - Applications - Data - Contacts - Inj
et - Accounts - Sales ~ Intranet -~ Applications - Data - (o
ta - {ontacts - Internet - Accounts - Sales - Intranet - Applf
Sales - Intrangt - Applications - Data - Contacts ~ Interng




GoAmerica

{;/';ﬁw Wireless Data Solutions

Take your network. And run.”

GoAmerica, Inc.

433 Hackensack Avenue
Hackensack, NJ 07601
201.996.1717
www.goamerica.net
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